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Financial Audits for Each Charter 
School*

1. Anderson Preparatory Academy
2. Aspire Charter Academy
3. The Bloomington Project School
4. Canaan Community Academy
5. Community Montessori, Inc.
6. Discovery Charter School
7. East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy
8. Geist Montessori Academy
9. Hoosier College and Career Academy
10. Indiana Online Learning Options, Inc. (for Indiana Connections Academy and Indiana Connections Career Academy) 
11. Lighthouse Academies of Northwest Indiana (for East Chicago Lighthouse Charter School and Gary Lighthouse Charter School) 
12. Mays Community Academy
13. Neighbors' New Vistas High School
14. Options Charter Schools (for Options Indiana, Options Noblesville and Options Westfield) 
15. Premier Arts Academy
16. Renaissance Academy Charter School
17. Rock Creek Community Academy



Anderson Preparatory Academy

[to be added when completed]



Aspire Charter Academy

[to be added when completed] 



The Bloomington Project School 
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 896,895$         775,607$         
Grants Receivable 69,269             91,017             
Prepaid Expenses 43,787             20,174             

Total Current Assets 1,009,951        886,798           

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings and Improvements 2,675,305        2,659,310        
Furniture and Equipment 504,602           503,229           
Textbooks 10,295             10,295             
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,739,450)       (1,617,981)       

Property and Equipment, Net 1,450,752        1,554,853        

OTHER ASSETS
Right-of-Use Assets Operating, Net 248,308           382,203           
Security Deposits 12,500             12,500             

Total Other Assets 260,808           394,703           

Total Assets 2,721,511$      2,836,354$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 24,392$           22,999$           
Accrued Expenses 233,134           115,348           
Current Portion of Line of Credit 29,643             28,474             
Current Portion of Notes Payable 144,347           139,577           
Refundable Advances -                       11,540             
Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Current Portion 50,247             138,687           
Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, Current Portion 4,330               4,132               

Total Current Liabilities 486,093           460,757           

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Line of Credit, Net of Current Portion 31,229             60,872             
Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion 789,267           925,894           
Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Net of Current Portion 278,001           326,644           
Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, Net of Current Portion -                       4,331               

Total Long-Term Liabilities 1,098,497        1,317,741        

Total Liabilities 1,584,590        1,778,498        

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 1,136,921        1,057,856        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 2,721,511$      2,836,354$       
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 2,563,026$      2,498,341$      
Grant Revenue 1,069,527        861,346           
Student Fees 53,642             103,618           
Contributions 90,354             51,103             
Other Income 96,179             96,994             

Total Revenue and Support 3,872,728        3,611,402        

EXPENSES
Program Services 2,649,379        2,505,364        
Management and General 1,144,284        1,001,170        

Total Expenses 3,793,663        3,506,534        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 79,065             104,868           

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Beginning of Year 1,057,856        952,988           

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS - END OF YEAR 1,136,921$      1,057,856$      
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 1,945,255$    350,450$       2,295,705$    1,913,386$    99,452$         2,012,838$    
Employee Benefits 403,423         69,674           473,097         356,377         41,334           397,711         
Staff Development 18,813           245                19,058           -                     -                     -                     
Professional Services 155,513         77,266           232,779         65,837           180,097         245,934         
Repairs and Maintenance -                     27,405           27,405           -                     690                690                
Authorizer Oversight Fees 44,330           -                     44,330           43,245           -                     43,245           
Food Costs 5,155             84,775           89,930           3,070             87,644           90,714           
Equipment -                     214                214                -                     6,307             6,307             
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 49,252           20,088           69,340           63,753           32,356           96,109           
Occupancy -                     121,130         121,130         -                     180,473         180,473         
Depreciation and Amortization -                     253,990         253,990         -                     112,884         112,884         
Interest -                     88,688           88,688           -                     186,033         186,033         
Insurance -                     32,421           32,421           -                     26,028           26,028           
Other 27,638           17,938           45,576           59,696           47,872           107,568         

Total Functional Expenses 2,649,379$    1,144,284$    3,793,663$    2,505,364$    1,001,170$    3,506,534$    

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets 79,065$           104,868$         
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 120,095           112,884           
Noncash Lease Activities (3,189)              18,478             
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Grants Receivable 21,748             12,615             
Prepaid Expenses (23,613)            (11,174)            
Accounts Payable 1,393               5,941               
Accrued Expenses 117,786           (92,337)            
Refundable Advances (11,540)            (2,275)              
Deferred Rent Payable -                       -                       

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 301,745           149,000           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Repayments of Notes Payable, Net (131,857)          (108,827)          
Payments on Line of Credit, Net (28,474)            (27,366)            
Payments on Financing Lease Activities (4,132)              (6,585)              

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (164,463)          (142,778)          

NET CHANGE IN CASH 121,288           6,222               

Cash - Beginning of Year 775,607           769,385           

CASH - END OF YEAR 896,895$         775,607$         

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 88,688$           186,033$         
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 
The Bloomington Project School (the School) is a public benefit nonprofit organization 
incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School operates as a public charter 
school established under Indiana Code 20-24 serving approximately 320 students in grades 
kindergarten through eighth and is sponsored by Ball State University. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which the educational 
services are rendered. 
 
A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as refundable advances in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024 
and 2023, the School had $-0- and $11,540, respectively, of conditional grants that had not 
been recognized as revenue in the statements of activities because conditions had not been 
met. 
 
Revenue from student fees and other income is recognized when the control of the 
promised good or service is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Amounts 
received prior to the service being performed are reported as deferred revenue in the 
statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School did not have any 
such deferred revenue. 
 
Contributions 
The School receives income from contributions and grants that support certain School 
activities. Such revenue received and unconditional promises to give are measured at their 
fair value and are reported as an increase in net assets. The School reports gifts of cash 
and other assets and grants as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations 
that limit the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for future 
periods. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purposes’ restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to 
net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities and change 
in net assets as net assets released from restriction. The School did not have any net assets 
with donor restrictions as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents consist of short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. There were no cash 
equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Grants Receivable 
Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal programs and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. The School believes it is operating in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed 
necessary. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $1,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Buildings and Improvements Lesser of 30 Years or Life of Lease 
 Furniture and Equipment 3 to 5 Years 
 Textbooks 4 Years 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Taxes on Income 
The Bloomington Project School, Inc. has received a determination from the U.S. 
Department of Treasury stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be 
subject to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, no accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be 
included in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination.  
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Taxes on Income (Continued) 
For tax positions not meeting the more-likely-than-not test, no tax liability is recorded. The 
School has examined this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent 
tax liabilities or questionable tax positions. Tax years ending after 2019 are open to audit for 
both federal and state purposes. 
 
Leases 
The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in 
the statement of financial position. 
 
ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. 
 
The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The School evaluated subsequent events through October 18, 2024, the date these financial 
statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have been 
evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related disclosures 
would be required. 
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NOTE 2 LINE OF CREDIT 

On February 28, 2020, the School entered into a credit agreement with a bank for a line of 
credit which permits borrowing up to $168,000. Principal and interest payments of $2,628 
are due monthly beginning in March of 2021 with an interest rate of 3.95% with final 
payment due in February of 2027. The line of credit is secured by any and all existing and 
subsequent security documents, including mortgages, security agreements, and collateral 
assignments by any Borrower or Guarantor. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the line of credit 
balance was $60,872 and $89,346, respectively.  
 
Principal maturities of the line of credit are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 29,643$           
2026 30,853             
2027 376                  
Total 60,872$            

 
 

NOTE 3 NOTES PAYABLE 

Notes payable consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 
Description 2024 2023
Note Payable to Indiana Finance Authority 106,009$         169,127$         
Note Payable to IFF 811,305           873,524           
Common School Fund Loan 16,300             22,820             

Total 933,614           1,065,471        
Less: Current Portion (144,347)          (139,577)          

Long-Term Portion 789,267$         925,894$          
 
Indiana Finance Authority Note Payable 
The note payable to Indiana Finance Authority is payable in quarterly installments of 
$17,798, including interest at 5.5% per annum. The loan was funded through the sale of 
Qualified School Construction Bonds, which provide for the interest to be subsidized by the 
U.S. federal government. The loan is subordinate to the IFF note payable. 
 
IFF Note Payable 
The note payable to IFF is payable in monthly installments of $10,028, including interest at 
6.875% per annum, with the unpaid balance due on August 1, 2033. The note is secured by 
a leasehold mortgage, and furniture and equipment. The promissory note with IFF contains 
several financial and nonfinancial covenants with which the School is required to comply 
annually. The School was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 3 NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

Common School Fund Loan 
The note payable to the Indiana Common School Fund is payable in semi-annual principal 
installments of $3,260 from January 2017 to July 2026, with interest at 1% per annum. 
 
Principal maturities of all notes payable are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 144,347$         
2026 112,700           
2027 79,687             
2028 81,850             
2029 87,658             

Thereafter 427,372           
Total 933,614$          

 
 

NOTE 4 LEASES 

The School leases equipment under a long-term, noncancelable lease agreements. The 
lease expires in July 2025. In the normal course of business, it is expected that the lease will 
be renewed or replaced by similar leases.  
 
The School entered into a capital lease financing agreement during the year ended June 30, 
2020 for a piece of equipment. The original cost related to this asset was $18,698. At 
June 30 2024 and 2023, the cost and accumulated depreciation related to this asset was 
$11,981. 
 
The following tables provide quantitative information concerning the School’s leases for the 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023: 
 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Finance Lease Cost 4,132$             6,585$             
Interest on Lease Liabilities 327                  516                  
Operating Lease Cost 134,775           136,672           

Total Lease Cost 139,234$         143,773$         

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Finance Leases 327$                516$                
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 154,316           147,666           
Financing Cash Flows from Finance Leases 4,132               3,943               
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Finance Leases 0.9 Years 1.9 Years
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 4.8 Years 4.9 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Finance Leases 4.72% 4.72%
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 4.00% 4.00%  
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NOTE 4 LEASES (CONTINUED) 

A maturity analysis of annual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 
2024 is as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Operating Finance Totals
2025 64,860$         4,459$           69,319$         
2026 69,860           -                     69,860           
2027 76,335           -                     76,335           
2028 72,000           -                     72,000           
2029 78,000           -                     78,000           

Undiscounted Cash Flows 361,055         4,459             365,514         
(Less) Imputed Interest (32,807)          (129)               (32,936)          

Total Present Value 328,248$       4,330$           332,578$       

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 50,247$         4,330$           54,577$         
Long-Term Lease Liabilities 278,001         -                     278,001         

Total 328,248$       4,330$           332,578$       
 

 
 

NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLANS 

The School provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ Retirement Fund (TRF) 
and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of which are cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the state of Indiana and 
administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. Contribution 
requirements of plan members are determined annually by the INPRS Board. For both years 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School contributed 5.5% of compensation for eligible 
teaching personnel to TRF and 11.2% for other employees to PERF. Should the School 
elect to withdraw from TRF or PERF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. The School’s 
contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total contributions received by TRF 
and PERF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF were 
approximately 85% and 95% funded, respectively. 
 
Employees can elect benefits under a 403(b) plan, where the School contributes 7.5% of 
compensation. 
 
Retirement plan expense was $134,825 and $86,147 for the years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. 
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NOTE 6 COMMITMENTS 

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support. Payments under this charter agreement were $44,330 
and $43,245 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains 
in effect until June 30, 2026, and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. 
 
The School has contracted with Charter School Management Corporation (CSMC) to 
provide finance, business consulting, compliance, payroll, human resources, and other 
services. This contract remains in effect until June 30, 2024, and is automatically renewed 
on a year-to-year basis commencing on the last day of the expiring contract unless written 
notice of intent to terminate or renegotiate is given by either party at least 60 days prior to 
expiration of the agreement. Expenses under the agreement were $60,000 and $60,000 for 
the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Under the terms of the agreement, the School has agreed to pay CSMC the following 
amounts for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 60,000$            

 
 

NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The School provides education instruction services to families residing in Monroe and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by state and 
federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed on the 
School. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024, substantially all 
of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. In addition, deposits maintained 
at Old National Bank are insured up to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
insurance limit of $250,000. Funds held at this financial institution exceed the FDIC 
insurance limit. To date, the School has not experienced losses in any of these accounts. 
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NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY 

Under Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the 
assets it has available at June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general 
expenditures within one year of the date of the statements of financial position. The School’s 
financial assets include cash and grants receivable as noted below at June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Financial Assets 966,164$         866,624$         
Less: Those Unavailable for General Expenditures
  Within One Year: Extracurricular Account (240,201)          (181,561)          

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash
  Needs for General Expenditures Within One Year 725,963$         685,063$          

 
From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 
 
 

NOTE 9 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories was required. 
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for  
The Bloomington Project School as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of The Bloomington Project School 
 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools. 
 







THE BLOOMINGTON PROJECT SCHOOL 
MONROE COUNTY, INDIANA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

SCHOOL OFFICIALS 1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 2 

AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 3 

EXIT CONFERENCE 4 



THE BLOOMINGTON PROJECT SCHOOL 
MONROE COUNTY, INDIANA 

SCHOOL OFFICIALS 
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

(1) 

 

 

Office Official Term 
   

President of Board of 
Directors Mike Horvath 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

   
School Leader Catherine Diersing 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

   
Business Manager Lisa Jones 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 
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(3) 

 
No findings noted for the period of July 01, 2023, to June 30, 2024.  
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The contents of this report were discussed with Catherine Diersing, Lisa Jones, and Mike Horvath from 
the Board of Directors on October 18, 2024.  
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Board of Directors 
Friends of Canaan, Inc. 
  dba: Canaan Community Academy 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Friends of Canaan, Inc. dba: Canaan Community Academy’s
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about Friends of Canaan, Inc. dba: Canaan Community Academy’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
November 26, 2024 
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2024 2023
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 455,947$          104,983$          
Grants Receivable 60,959              176,080            
In-Kind Rent Receivable 721,997            895,821            
Prepaid Expenses 54,636              8,838 

Total Current Assets 1,293,539         1,185,722         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Improvements 591,973            403,273            
Furniture and Equipment 596,514            564,692            
Textbooks 141,309            141,309            
Vehicles 380,631            380,631            
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (601,100)          (515,306)          

Property and Equipment, Net 1,109,327         974,599            

Operating Right of Use (ROU) Asset - 1,444 

Total Assets 2,402,866$      2,161,765$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable -$ 17,644$            
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 176,432            134,116            
Operating Lease Liability - Current Portion - 1,444 
Deferred Revenue 34,423              19,853 

Total Current Liabilities 210,855            173,057            

Total Liabilities 210,855            173,057            

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions 1,470,014         1,092,887         
With Donor Restrictions 721,997            895,821            

Total Net Assets 2,192,011         1,988,708         

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 2,402,866$      2,161,765$      
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Without Donor With Donor Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 1,796,128$    -$                   1,796,128$    1,348,976$    -$                   1,348,976$    
Grant Revenue 771,516         -                     771,516         1,084,351      -                     1,084,351      
Student Fees 1,508             -                     1,508             1,195             -                     1,195             
Contributions 9,168             -                     9,168             17,264           -                     17,264           
Other Income 38,704           -                     38,704           17,305           -                     17,305           
In-kind Contribution -                     -                     -                     -                     938,132         938,132         
Net Assets Released from Restrictions 173,824         (173,824)        -                     158,063         (158,063)        -                     

Total Revenue and Support 2,790,848      (173,824)        2,617,024      2,627,154      780,069         3,407,223      

EXPENSES
Program Services 1,990,030      -                     1,990,030      1,658,755      -                     1,658,755      
Management and General 423,691         -                     423,691         291,419         -                     291,419         

Total Expenses 2,413,721      -                     2,413,721      1,950,174      -                     1,950,174      

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 377,127         (173,824)        203,303         676,980         780,069         1,457,049      

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 1,092,887      895,821         1,988,708      415,907         115,752         531,659         

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 1,470,014$    721,997$       2,192,011$    1,092,887$    895,821$       1,988,708$    

2024 2023
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 1,057,926$    168,560$       1,226,486$    843,393$       119,567$       962,960$       
Employee Benefits 274,552         22,503           297,055         228,386         9,991             238,377         
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 69,993           22,209           92,202           59,363           20,652           80,015           
Professional Services 88,916           105,740         194,656         77,264           53,952           131,216         
Food Costs 62,979           -                     62,979           58,493 -                     58,493           
Depreciation 85,794           -                     85,794           59,702           -                     59,702           
Occupancy 235,740         -                     235,740         207,759         -                     207,759         
Property Rental and Maintenance 46,212           -                     46,212           60,481           -                     60,481           
Equipment 10,751           -                     10,751           7,580 -                     7,580             
Insurance -                     49,635           49,635           -                     38,517           38,517           
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                     47,949           47,949           -                     36,294           36,294           
Contracted Transportation Services 28,509           -                     28,509           34,330           -                     34,330           
Interest -                     635                635                -                     1,631 1,631             
Other 28,658           6,460             35,118           22,004           10,815 32,819           

Total Functional Expenses 1,990,030$    423,691$       2,413,721$    1,658,755$    291,419$       1,950,174$    

2024 2023
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2024 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets 203,303$         1,457,049$      
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 85,794             59,702             
In-Kind Contribution 173,824           (780,069)          

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Grants Receivable 115,121           (95,753)            
Prepaid Expenses (45,798)            (402)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 42,316             (35,132)            
Deferred Revenue 14,570             (96,547)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 589,130           508,848           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment (220,522)          (533,792)          

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Repayment of Note Payable (17,644)            (16,618)            

NET CHANGE IN CASH 350,964           (41,562)            

Cash - Beginning of Year 104,983           146,545           

CASH - END OF YEAR 455,947$         104,983$         

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 635$ 1,631$             
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 

Friends of Canaan, Inc. dba: Canaan Community Academy (the School) is a public benefit 
nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School 
operates a public charter school established under Indiana Code 20-24 serving 
approximately 200 students in grades kindergarten through eight and is sponsored by Ball 
State University. 
 
Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using the accrual method of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAP). This method records revenue and related assets when earned and 
records expense and related liabilities when the obligations are incurred. These financial 
statements report amounts separately by class of net assets. 
 
Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 

Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment, and paid in monthly installments in July through June, coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the 
promised good or service is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue is 
recognized in the year in which the educational services are rendered. 
 
A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School had $34,423 and 
$19,853 respectively, of deferred revenue for grant funds received in advance of related 
reimbursable expenses. 
 
Cash 

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts. The School considers all demand accounts to 
be cash. 
 
Grants Receivable and Revenue 

Grants receivable and revenue relate primarily to activities funded under federal programs 
and legislation enacted by the state of Indiana. The School believes that it is operating in 
compliance with regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is 
deemed necessary. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Contributions 

Contributions received are measured at their fair values and are reported as an increase in 
net assets. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with 
stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose 
or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and change in 
net assets as Net Assets Released from Restrictions. 
 
Taxes on Income 

Friends of Canaan, Inc. has received a determination from the U.S. Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS) stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code (IRC) as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be subject 
to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023, no accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be included in 
the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of the School are 
subject to examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities, generally for three years after 
they were filed. 
 
Property and Equipment 

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $1,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Leasehold Improvements 40 Years 
 Furniture and Equipment 3 to 4 Years 
 Textbooks 4 Years 
 Vehicles 5 to 10 Years 
 



FRIENDS OF CANAAN, INC. 
DBA: CANAAN COMMUNITY ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(9) 

 
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Classification of Net Assets 

Net assets of the School are classified based on the presence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictions and are defined as follows: 
 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-
imposed restrictions or the donor-imposed restrictions have expired or been fulfilled. Net 
assets in this category may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary 
objectives of the School. 
 
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by 
donors and grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions 
will be met by actions of the School or passage of time. Other donor restrictions are 
perpetual in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in 
perpetuity. All of the net assets with donor of restrictions of the School related to the in-
kind rent receivable as further described in Note 2. The School did not have any net 
assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Earnings, gains, and losses on donor-restricted net assets are classified as net assets 
without donor restrictions unless specifically restricted by the donor or applicable state 
law. 
 

Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Leases 

The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in ROU assets – financing and lease liability – financing in the balance 
sheet. 
 
ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. 
 
The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
Subsequent Events 

The School evaluated subsequent events through November 26, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required. 
 
 

NOTE 2 IN-KIND RENT RECEIVABLE 

The School leases its facility under an operating lease with Shelby Township. Shelby 
Township is providing a donation to the School by allowing it to occupy the government-
owned building for an annual lease payment of $1, below market rent, through March 2023. 
The present value of the contribution, as determined at the date of the lease was effective 
using a 2.58% interest rate, is recorded in net assets with donor restrictions and in-kind 
receivable. Annually, this receivable is amortized and released from restriction. The School 
is responsible for all repairs, maintenance, utilities, and insurance. 
 



FRIENDS OF CANAAN, INC. 
DBA: CANAAN COMMUNITY ACADEMY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(11) 

 
NOTE 2 IN-KIND RENT RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

In April 2023, the School entered into a lease agreement with Shelby Township, with an 
effective date of March 1, 2023. Shelby Township is providing a donation to the School by 
allowing it to occupy the government-owned building for an annual lease payment of $1, 
below market rent, through February 2028. The present value of the contribution, as 
determined at the date of the lease was effective using a 4.27% interest rate, is recorded in 
net assets with donor restrictions and in-kind receivable. Annually, this receivable is 
amortized and released from restriction. The School is responsible for all repairs, 
maintenance, utilities, and insurance.  
 
 

NOTE 3 NOTES PAYABLE 

Notes payable were comprised of the following at June 30: 
 
Description 2024 2023

Note payable to German American Bank, payable
$1,521 monthly including interest at 6.00% per annum, 
maturing in June 2024, secured by two buses. -$                     17,644$           

Less: Current Portion -                       (17,644)            

Long-Term Portion -$                     -$                     

 
 
 

NOTE 4 RETIREMENT PLAN 

The School offers retirement benefits to its employees through both 403(b) and 401(a) 
defined contribution retirement plans. The 403(b) plan is funded solely by employee 
contributions. The School contributes 7.5% of each employee’s salary for all full-time 
employees to the 401(a) plan. Retirement plan expense, net of forfeitures, was $67,318 and 
$51,562 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
 

NOTE 5 LEASES 

The School leases two copiers from a third party under a long-term, noncancelable lease 
agreement. The lease expired in 2024. In the normal course of business, it is expected that 
this lease will be renewed or replaced by similar leases. Lease expense associated with all 
third-party leases was $2,667 and $2,846 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 5 LEASES (CONTINUED) 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Operating Lease Cost: 2,667$             2,846$             
Total Lease Cost 2,667$             

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases (1,444)$            (1,464)$            
Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for New
  Operating Lease Liabilities: -                       -                       
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases: N/A 1 year
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases N/A 3.00%

Short-Term Lease Liabilities -$                     1,444$             
Long-Term Lease Liabilities -                       -                       

Total -$                     1,444$             

Year Ending December 31, Amount Amount
2024 1,444$              

 
 

NOTE 6 COMMITMENTS 

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support. Payments under this charter agreement were $47,949 
and $36,294 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains 
in effect until June 30, 2027 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. 
 
 

NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Madison and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Any changes in state or federal legislation could 
significantly impact the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by 
state and federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be 
imposed on the School. 
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NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30 2024, substantially all 
of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana.  
 
In addition, bank deposits are maintained primarily at First Financial Bank, and are insured 
up to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limit of $250,000. Funds held at this 
financial institution exceed the FDIC insurance limit. 
 
 

NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. Financial assets for the School include cash 
and grants receivable. Financial assets at June 30, 2024 and 2023 total $516,906 and 
$281,063, respectively, all of which are available to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures within a year. 
 
From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.  
 
 

NOTE 9 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories is required. 
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The report presented herein was prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the School 
as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Friends of Canaan, Inc. 
dba: Canaan Community Academy 

 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.  
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AVERAGE DAILY MEMBERSHIP (ADM) TESTING – ENROLLMENT 

Enrollment documents are required to be maintained by the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE). 
Canaan Community Academy has adopted a policy requiring additional documents to be obtained at 
enrollment. The process used did not result in maintaining consistent and complete enrollment records 
for one (1) of the twenty-five (25) students tested. These selections were missing the certain forms or 
forms were incomplete as required by the School’s enrollment policy. 

Officials shall maintain records (enrollment applications, attendance records, reporting forms, etc.) 
which substantiate the number of students claimed for ADM. A student claimed for ADM must be an 
"eligible pupil". An eligible pupil is a student that is enrolled and attending. IC 20-43-1-11: "'Eligible 
pupil' refers to an individual who qualifies as an eligible pupil under IC 20- 43-4-1". IC 20-43-1-11.5 
defines "Enrolled" as registered with a school corporation to attend educational programs offered by or 
through the school corporation; and attending these educational programs or receiving education 
services. IC 20-43-1-7.5 defines "Attending" as physical or virtual presence of a student with the 
expectation of continued services in the education programs for which the student is registered. 

The organizer is responsible for reporting ADM to the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE). The 
ADM Summary Report shall provide a written certification of ADM to properly document responsibility. 
The ADM Summary Report must be signed by the Superintendent/ Principal/Director of Schools and 
the Trustee/Corporate Treasurer and be uploaded to IDOE for each reporting period in the fiscal year. 
Supporting documentation of enrollment and attendance/engagement information by grade and school 
must be maintained for audit. (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana 
Charter Schools, Part 9). 

VENDOR DISBURSEMENTS – SALES TAX EXEMPTION 

Sales tax can be avoided or reimbursed for purchases eligible under the state tax exemption 
guidelines. During our testing of vendor disbursements noted there were four (6) instances of the 
25 disbursement selections where Canaan Community Academy paid sales tax. 

Charter schools are eligible for an exemption from the state sales tax on purchases. To obtain the 
exemption for a Sales Tax Exemption Certificate, application shall be made to the Sales Tax Division of 
the Department of Revenue. This certificate must be presented at the time a purchase is made to avoid 
paying sales tax. (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana Charter Schools, 
Part 10). 
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The contents of this report were discussed on November 26, 2024 with Rhonda Pennington (Chief 
Administrative Officer) and Kristi Allard (Chief Operations Officer). 



(5)

          

 

     

 

            
           

             

             
               
               

               
       

              
            

              
           

 
   

   

  



(6)

        

    

          

 

     

  
  

 

            
                  

                
                    

                  
                

          
                

         

     

 

  
   

  



Community Montessori, Inc. 





COMMUNITY MONTESSORI, INC. 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 3 

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 4 

STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 5 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 6 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7 

OTHER REPORT 17 

 





Board of Directors 
Community Montessori, Inc. 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the School internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the School ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
December 17, 2024 
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,723,674$      5,257,393$      
Investments 4,876,752        2,121,330        
Accounts Receivable, Net 10,174             375,625           
Prepaid Expenses 17,465             14,442             

Total Current Assets 8,628,065        7,768,790        

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 150,296           150,296           
Buildings and Improvements 13,569,296      13,413,401      
Furniture and Equipment 227,188           189,609           
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (5,162,909)       (4,801,459)       

Property and Equipment, Net 8,783,871        8,951,847        

Operating Right of Use Asset, Net 7,069               9,854               

Total Assets 17,419,005$    16,730,491$    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable 284,467$         275,651$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 367,131           340,806           
Operating Lease Liability - Current Portion 2,866               2,785               
Deferred Revenue 205,975           47,658             
Refundable Advances -                       1,235,193        

Total Current Liabilities 860,439           1,902,093        

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Operating Lease Liability - Net of Current Portion 4,203               7,069               
Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion 3,728,424        4,012,663        
Less: Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (33,628)            (36,228)            

Total Long-Term Notes Payable, Net of Unamortized 
  Debt Issuance Costs 3,694,796        3,976,435        

Total Liabilities 4,559,438        5,885,597        

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Without Donor Restrictions:

Without Donor Restrictions 12,853,352      10,838,679      
With Donor Restrictions 6,215               6,215               

Total Net Assets 12,859,567      10,844,894      

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 17,419,005$    16,730,491$    
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Without Donor With Donor Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 120,201$            -$                        120,201$            3,939,466$         -$                       3,939,466$         
Program Fees 493,770              -                          493,770              551,487              -                         551,487              
Grant Revenue 6,489,194           -                          6,489,194           1,152,461           -                         1,152,461           
Student Fees 54,970                -                          54,970                130,901              -                         130,901              
Contributions 41,617                -                          41,617                5,081                  -                         5,081                  
Fundraising 15,836                -                          15,836                29,707                5,000                  34,707                
Investment Gain, Net 188,304              -                          188,304              85,271                -                         85,271                
Other 20,740                -                          20,740                26,236                -                         26,236                
Net Assets Released from Restrictions -                          -                          -                          500                     (500)                   -                          

Total Revenue and Support 7,424,632           -                          7,424,632           5,921,110           4,500                  5,925,610           

EXPENSES
Program Services 4,604,076           -                          4,604,076           4,036,817           -                         4,036,817           
Management and General 790,754              -                          790,754              725,010              -                         725,010              
Fundraising 15,129                -                          15,129                20,221                -                         20,221                

Total Expenses 5,409,959           -                          5,409,959           4,782,048           -                         4,782,048           

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 2,014,673           -                          2,014,673           1,139,062           4,500                  1,143,562           

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 10,838,679         6,215                  10,844,894         9,699,617           1,715                  9,701,332           

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 12,853,352$       6,215$                12,859,567$       10,838,679$       6,215$                10,844,894$       

2024 2023
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total Services and General Fundraising Total

Salaries and Wages 2,702,840$     508,138$       -$                   3,210,978$    2,221,779$    473,105$       -$                   2,694,884$    
Employee Benefits 544,207          93,679           -                     637,886         488,786         77,676           -                     566,462         
Staff Development
  and Recruitment 48,141            -                     -                     48,141           27,084           -                     -                     27,084           
Professional Services 269,388          22,050           -                     291,438         386,165         24,250           -                     410,415         
Program Expenses 51,617            -                     -                     51,617           21,371           -                     -                     21,371           
Dues, Licenses, and 
  Subscriptions -                     77,652           -                     77,652           -                     77,949           -                     77,949           
Advertising -                     8,249             -                     8,249             -                     3,940             -                     3,940             
Travel -                     2,427             -                     2,427             -                     3,001             -                     3,001             
Information Technology 69,263            -                     -                     69,263           40,606           -                     -                     40,606           
Supplies 171,419          1,876             -                     173,295         163,859         3,259             -                     167,118         
Occupancy 256,596          -                     -                     256,596         196,959         -                     -                     196,959         
Depreciation 361,450          -                     -                     361,450         351,619         -                     -                     351,619         
Interest 129,155          -                     -                     129,155         138,589         -                     -                     138,589         
Insurance -                     60,669           -                     60,669           -                     47,117           -                     47,117           
Fundraising -                     -                     15,129           15,129           -                     -                     20,221           20,221           
Other -                     16,014           -                     16,014           -                     14,713           -                     14,713           

Total Functional
   Expenses 4,604,076$     790,754$       15,129$         5,409,959$    4,036,817$    725,010$       20,221$         4,782,048$    

2024 2023
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2024 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets 2,014,673$      1,143,562$    
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 361,450  351,619   
Amortization 2,600  2,599   
(Gain) Loss on Investments, Net (188,304)    (85,271)  

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable 365,451  630,383   
Prepaid Expenses (3,023)   (14,442)  
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 26,325  (62,940)  
Refundable Advances (1,235,193)   1,235,193  
Deferred Revenue 158,317  (116,746)  

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,502,296  3,083,957  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Investments (2,677,000)   (971,157)  
Proceeds from Sale of Investments 109,882  -  
Purchase of Property and Equipment (193,474)    (502,508)  

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (2,760,592)   (1,473,665)   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Repayment of Notes Payable (275,423)    (473,260)  

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,533,719)   1,137,032  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 5,257,393  4,120,361  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 3,723,674$      5,257,393$    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 117,911$    135,989$     
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 
Community Montessori, Inc. (the School) is a public benefit nonprofit organization 
incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School operates a public charter 
school established under Indiana Code 20-24 and is sponsored by Ball State University. The 
School also provides an early childhood education program for children ages three and four 
on a fee basis. For 2023-2024 School year, the School served approximately 480 students 
in preschool through high school. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenues primarily come from conditional resources provided under the Indiana Charter 
Schools Act. Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the 
funding received by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the 
state of Indiana is based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through 
June coinciding with the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which 
the educational services are rendered. 
 
A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024 
and 2023, the School has $121,396 and $-0-, respectively, of conditional grants that have 
not been recognized as revenue in the statement of activities because conditions have not 
been met. 
 
Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the promised good or service 
is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Amounts received prior to the service is 
performed is reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of 
June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the School has $84,579, $47,658 and $164,404, 
respectively, of deferred revenue from student fees. 
 
Grant, Contribution, and Fundraising Revenue 
The School receives income from grants, contributions, and fundraising that support certain 
school activities. Such revenue received and unconditional promises to give are measured 
at their fair values and are reported as an increase in net assets. The School reports gifts of 
cash and other assets and grants as restricted support if they are received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for 
future periods. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction 
ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are 
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of 
activities and change in net assets as Net Assets Released from Restrictions. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash held in bank accounts and short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
Grants and Accounts Receivable 
Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under grants and legislation enacted 
by the state of Indiana. The School believes that it is operating in compliance with regulatory 
requirements however there is uncertainty as to the final determination of eligibility on the 
Employee Retention Credit (ERC) funding thus the School has fully allowed for this 
receivable at June 30, 2023 (see Note 2). Subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2024, the 
School’s ERC tax appeal prevailed and recognized the revenue and as of June 30, 2024, 
thus removing the grants receivable and related allowance. Accounts receivable relate 
primarily to program fees collected annually from the School’s students. These accounts 
receivable are reviewed for collectability annually. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, no 
allowance was deemed necessary relating to program fees. 
 
Investments 
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in 
debt securities are reported at their fair values on the statements of financial position. 
Unrealized gains and losses are included in the statement of activities and change in net 
assets. Investment income and gains and losses on investments are reported as increases 
or decreases in unrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor 
stipulations or by law. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $5,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Buildings and Improvements 40 Years 
 Furniture and Equipment 3 to 7 Years 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Deferred Revenue 
Deferred revenue consists of early education program fee deposits and materials and 
supply fee deposits received as part of the enrollment process for the subsequent academic 
School year. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Debt Issuance Costs 
Debt issuance costs include expenses incurred as part of the July 2016 refinancing of long-
term debt. Amortization of the $52,041 in debt issuance costs is provided on a straight-line 
basis over the 20-year term of the related notes payable. Accumulated amortization was 
$18,413 and $15,813 as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As provided by ASU 
2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, debt issuance costs are 
presented as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability. 
 
Taxes on Income 
The School has received a determination from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be subject to tax on income 
unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, no 
accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be included in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of the School are 
subject to examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities, generally for three years after 
they were filed.  
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
 
Leases 
The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in 
the balance sheet. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Leases (Continued) 
ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. 
 
The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The School evaluated subsequent events through December 17, 2024December 17, 2024, 
the date these financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through 
that date have been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or 
related disclosures would be required. 
 
 

NOTE 2 EMPLOYEE RETENTION CREDIT 

The Employee Retention Credit (ERC) was established by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act in March 2020. It provided a per employee credit to eligible 
businesses based on a percentage of qualified wages and health insurance benefits paid for 
employees in an effort to help business retain their workforce and avoid layoffs. It is a 
refundable payroll tax credit that could be claimed quarterly if certain criteria were met. 
 
For the fourth quarter of 2020, the School complied with the conditions of ERC funding from 
the U.S. Treasury in the amount of $349,281. 
 
For the first, second, and third quarters of 2021, the School complied with the conditions of 
ERC funding from the U.S. Treasury in the amount of $1,132,177. 
 
Grants related to this program are classified as grants receivable. The School recognized a 
grant receivable and loss contingency of $1,481,458 related to eligibility uncertainty and 
ongoing IRS audit of the ERC claim during the year ended June 30, 2023. 
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NOTE 2 EMPLOYER RETENTION CREDIT (CONTINUED) 

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the School received ERC funding from the IRS in the 
amount of $1,235,193. Due to the eligibility uncertainty and initial ruling on the IRS audit of 
the School’s ERC claim, the School has classified these funds as refundable advances as of 
June 30, 2023. 
 
Subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2024, the School’s ERC tax appeal prevailed and 
the amount of $1,235,193 was recognized as revenue for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
The IRS may review funding eligibility of funds for compliance with program requirements 
based on dollar thresholds and other factors. 
 
 

NOTE 3 INVESTMENTS 

The School held the following investments as of June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Mutual Funds:

Federated Govt Reserves A 20,564$           -$                     
MFS Corporate Bond A 142,074           135,139           
MFS Diversified Income A 160,240           148,979           
MFS limited Maturity A 142,608           134,737           
MFS Total Return Bond A 136,888           131,736           

Pacific Life Fixed Annuity 1,073,172        1,035,584        
Total 4,876,752$      2,121,330$       

 
 

NOTE 4 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Fair value accounting standards define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair 
value, outline a fair value hierarchy based on inputs used to measure fair value and 
enhance disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy 
distinguishes between market participants assumptions based on market data obtained from 
sources independent of the entity (observable inputs that are classified within Level 1 or 2 of 
the hierarchy) and the reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant 
assumptions (unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy). 
 

Level 1 – quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets to which the 
School has access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
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NOTE 4 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based 
on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation 
techniques used to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair 
value. There have been no changes in methodologies used at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 

Mutual Funds: Valued at the closing price, or net asset value, reported on the active 
market on which the individual securities are traded. 
 
Annuity Contract: Valued at the underlying investment holdings, including items reported 
on active markets on which the individual securities are traded, fixed-income securities 
based on market prices or, if not available, is estimated using discounted cash flow 
techniques, and other investments with no readily available market prices is estimated 
using appropriate valuation techniques, including consideration of recent transactions in 
comparable securities or businesses. 
 
Certificates of Deposit: Valued at cost adjusted for amortization of premium and discount 
to the maturity date using the level-yield method, which approximates fair value. 
 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the School’s assets at 
fair value: 
 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Mutual Funds:

Federated Govt Reserves A 20,564$           20,564$           -$                     -$                     
MFS Corporate Bond A 142,074           142,074           -                       -                       
MFS Diversified Income A 160,240           160,240           -                       -                       
MFS Limited Maturity A 142,608           142,608           -                       -                       
MFS Total Return Bond A 136,888           136,888           -                       -                       

Total Held at Fair Value 602,374           602,374           -                       -                       
Pacific Life 1,073,172        -                       1,073,172        -                       
Certificates of Deposit 3,201,206        3,201,206        -                       -                       

Total Investment 4,876,752$      3,803,580$      1,073,172$      -$                     

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Mutual Funds:

MFS Corporate Bond A 135,139$         135,139$         -$                     -$                     
MFS Diversified Income A 148,979           148,979           -                       -                       
MFS limited Maturity A 134,737           134,737           -                       -                       
MFS Total Return Bond A 131,736           131,736           -                       -                       

Total Held at Fair Value 550,591           550,591           -                       -                       
Pacific Life 1,035,584        -                       1,035,584        -                       
Certificate of Deposit 535,155           535,155           -                       -                       

Total Investment 2,121,330$      1,085,746$      1,035,584$      -$                     

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2024

 



COMMUNITY MONTESSORI, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(13) 

 
NOTE 5 NOTES PAYABLE 

Notes payable consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 
Description 2024 2023

Note payable to German American Bancorp,
payable $33,498 monthly, including interest at
2.99% per annum, maturing in July 2036. 4,012,891$      4,288,314$      

Less: Current Portion (284,467)          (275,651)          

Long-Term Portion 3,728,424$      4,012,663$       
 
Principal maturities of German American Bancorp notes payable are scheduled as follows 
for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 284,467$         
2026 293,212           
2027 302,225           
2028 311,271           
2029 321,084           

Thereafter 2,500,632        
Total 4,012,891$       

 
 

NOTE 6 NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

Net assets with donor restrictions represent contributions that have been received but not 
expended for the identified purposes or have been donated for use in future periods. Net 
assets with donor restrictions were available for the following purposes as of June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Scholarships 6,215$             6,215$              
 
During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, net assets of $-0- and $500, respectively, 
were released from restriction by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or 
due to the passage of time. 
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NOTE 7 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 2% of state tuition support received. The charter remains in effect until June 30, 
2023 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. Expense under this agreement was 
$65,371 and $63,429 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 8 LEASES 

The School leases equipment from a third party under a long-term noncancelable lease 
agreement. The leases expires in 2027. In the normal course of business, it is expected that 
this lease will be renewed or replaced by similar leases. Lease expense associated with all 
third-party leases was $3,024 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Operating Lease Cost: 3,024$             3,024$             
Total Lease Cost 3,024$             3,024$             

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 3,024$             3,024$             
Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for New
  Operating Lease Liabilities -$                     12,560$           
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 2.3 Years 4.5 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 2.87% 2.87%

 
A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024 
is as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 3,024$             
2026 3,024               
2027 1,260               

Undiscounted Cash Flows 7,308               
Less: Imputed Interest (239)                 

Total Present Value 7,069$             

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 2,866$             
Long-Term Lease Liabilities 4,203               

Total 7,069$             
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NOTE 9 RETIREMENT PLANS  

The School provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits for teaching personnel are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ 
Retirement Fund (TRF) which is part of a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
retirement plan governed by the state of Indiana and administered by the Indiana Public 
Retirement System (INPRS) Board. Contribution requirements of plan members are 
determined annually by the INPRS Board. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the 
School contributed 6.0% of compensation for eligible teaching personnel. Should the School 
elect to withdraw from TRF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. The School’s 
contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total contributions received by 
TRF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF was approximately 93% funded. 
 
All nonteaching personnel are eligible to enroll in a defined contribution Section 403(b) plan. 
Teaching personnel can also opt to participate in the 403(b) plan in lieu of TRF. Under the 
403(b) plan, the School will provide a 3%-6% match of an employee’s contribution, 
depending on years of service. Retirement plan expense under all plans was $54,381 and 
$48,488 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 10 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Floyd and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Any changes in state or federal legislation could 
significantly impact the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by 
state and federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be 
imposed on the School. 
 
The School primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at various 
financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may exceed insured 
limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, the School has not experienced losses in any 
of these accounts. 
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NOTE 11 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. Financial assets for the School include cash 
and cash equivalents, investments, and accounts receivable. 
 

2024 2023
Financial Assets 8,610,600$      7,754,348$      
Less: Those Unavailable for General Expenditures
  Within One Year, Due to:

Restrictions by Donor with Time or Purpose (6,215)              (6,215)              
Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs
  for General Expenditures Within One Year 8,604,385$      7,748,133$       

 
The School receives donor restricted contributions. Because donor restrictions require 
resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the School must maintain 
sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, financial assets may 
not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the School’s liquidity 
management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general 
expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 
 
 

NOTE 12 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services, management and general, or fundraising 
according to the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific 
transactions between these categories was required. 
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
School as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Community Montessori, Inc. 
 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.  
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Office Official Term 

Board President Melissa Merida 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

Executive Director Barbara Burke Fondren 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

Administrative Finance Melissa Cole 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 





COMMUNITY MONTESSORI, INC. 
FLOYD COUNTY, INDIANA 

AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

(3) 

No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. 
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EXIT CONFERENCE 
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

(4) 

The contents of this report were discussed on December 17, 2024 with Barbara Burke Fondren, 
Executive Director, and Melissa Cole, Administrative Finance. 



COMMUNITY MONTESSORI, INC. 
FLOYD COUNTY, INDIANA 

OFFICIAL RESPONSE 
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

(5) 

No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 that required an official response. 
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Board of Directors 
Duneland Charter School, Inc. 
  dba: Discovery Charter School 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
 

 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
October 17, 2024 
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,189,323$      1,616,743$      
Grants Receivable, Net 173,255           142,116
Student Fees Receivable -                       7,820               
Prepaid Expenses 43,012             48,626             

Total Current Assets 2,405,590        1,815,305        

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 408,188           408,188           
Buildings and Improvements 6,178,328        6,178,328        
Furniture and Equipment 1,605,833        1,605,833        
Textbooks 94,956             94,956             
Work in Progress 21,833             -                       
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (2,932,191)       (2,659,393)       

Property and Equipment, Net 5,376,947        5,627,912        

OTHER ASSETS
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted for Debt Service 694,204           651,824           
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted for Prepaid Interest 9,361               7,030               
Security Deposits -                       10,770             
Operating Right of Use (ROU) Asset 1,781               8,646               

Total Other Assets 705,346           678,270           

Total Assets 8,487,883$      8,121,487$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Debt 117,500$         117,500$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 257,161           324,368           
Refundable Advance 940,571           605,574           
Operating Lease Liability - Current Portion 1,781               6,865               

Total Current Liabilities 1,317,013        1,054,307        

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Debt, Net of Current Portion 6,646,250        6,763,750        
Less: Unamortized Debt Issuance Cost (259,478)          (271,545)          
Operating lease Liability - Less Current Portion                         - 1,781               

Total Long-Term Liabilities 6,386,772        6,493,986        

Total Liabilities 7,703,785        7,548,293        

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions 784,098           573,194           

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 8,487,883$      8,121,487$      
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 4,173,006$      4,050,163$      
Grant Revenue 1,387,767        1,254,829        
Student Fees 129,067           228,111           
Contributions 45,194             171,000           
Interest Income 46,740             12,562             
Other Income 23,941             72,822

Total Revenue and Support 5,805,715        5,789,487        

EXPENSES
Program Services 4,296,318        4,232,815        
Management and General 1,298,493        1,523,108        

Total Expenses 5,594,811        5,755,923        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 210,904           33,564             

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 573,194           539,630           

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 784,098$         573,194$         
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 2,314,583$  360,291$      2,674,874$  2,269,294$   448,210$       2,717,504$   
Employee Benefits 528,668       100,536        629,204       550,786        139,980         690,766        
Staff Development 31,314         -                    31,314         -                    -                     -                    
Professional Services 358,257       112,214        470,471       430,567        178,629         609,196        
Repairs and Maintenance -                   4,010            4,010           -                    9,468             9,468            
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                   75,218          75,218         -                    73,786           73,786          
Food Services 209,020       -                    209,020       215,261        -                     215,261        
Transportation Services 111,057       -                    111,057       100,147        -                     100,147        
Travel 3,469           1,108            4,577           3,489            759                4,248            
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 310,109       42,564          352,673       201,269        47,213           248,482        
Occupancy 99,795         -                    99,795         121,042        -                     121,042        
Information Technology 36,014         25,122          61,136         39,899          22,220           62,119          
Depreciation 272,798       -                    272,798       288,992        -                     288,992        
Interest 12,067         472,894        484,961       12,069          474,069         486,138        
Insurance -                   41,956          41,956         -                    67,669           67,669          
Advertising -                   12,888          12,888         -                    15,860           15,860          
Other 9,167           49,692          58,859         -                    45,245           45,245          

Total Expenses by Function 4,296,318$  1,298,493$   5,594,811$  4,232,815$   1,523,108$    5,755,923$   

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets 210,904$         33,564$           
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 272,798           288,992           
Amortization 12,067             12,069             
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Grants Receivable (31,139)            (100,058)          
Student Fees Receivable 7,820               (4,036)              
Prepaid Expenses and Security Deposits 16,384             (13,849)            
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (67,207)            47,662             
Refundable Advance 334,997           605,574           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 756,624           869,918           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment (21,833)            (148,060)          

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Payments on Notes Payable (117,500)          (117,500)          

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
  RESTRICTED CASH 617,291           604,358           

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash - Beginning of Year 2,275,597        1,671,239        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH -
  END OF YEAR 2,892,888$      2,275,597$      

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
  RESTRICTED CASH

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,189,323$      1,616,743$      
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted for Debt Service 694,204           651,824           
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted for Prepaid Interest 9,361               7,030               

Total 2,892,888$      2,275,597$      

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 472,894$         474,069$         
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 
Duneland Charter School, Inc. dba: Discovery Charter School (the School) is a public 
benefit nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The 
School operates a public charter school established under Indiana Code 20-24 serving 
approximately 540 students in grades kindergarten through 12 and is sponsored by Ball 
State University. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenues primarily come from conditional resources provided under the Indiana Charter 
Schools Act. Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the 
funding received by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the 
state of Indiana is based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through 
June coinciding with the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which 
the educational services are rendered. 
 
A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024 
and 2023, the School did not have any conditional grants that have not been recognized as 
revenue in the statement of activities because conditions have not been met. 
 
Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the promised good or service 
is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
 
Grant and Contribution Revenue 
The School receives income from grants and contributions that support certain school 
activities. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with 
stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose 
or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and change in 
net assets as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash equivalents include money market funds and time deposits with maturities of three 
months or less at the date of purchase. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Grants and Student Fees Receivable 
Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal grants and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. The School believes that it is operating in compliance with 
regulatory requirements; however, there is uncertainty as to the final determination of 
eligibility on the Employer Retention Credit (ERC) funding thus the school has fully allowed 
for this receivable (see Note 10). Student fees receivable relate to unpaid student fees from 
the 2022-2023 school year as of June 30, 2023. The School believes that all balances will 
be collected and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed necessary for 
student fees receivable.  
 
The carrying amount of student accounts receivable is reduced by a valuation allowance, if 
any, that reflects management’s best estimate of amounts that will not be collected. The 
allowance for uncollectable accounts receivable is based on management’s assessment of 
the collectability of specific accounts receivable based on a number of factors, including a 
history of past collection and write offs, current credit conditions for specific accounts, and 
any future outlook of market conditions that could impact collectability. All accounts or 
portions thereof deemed to be uncollectible or to require an excessive collection cost are 
charged off to the allowance. Management has determined that the allowance for credit 
losses was insignificant as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 and there was no material activity 
related to the allowance for credit losses for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Prepaid Expenses 
Prepaid expenses relate primarily to insurance paid in advance by the School.  
 
Security Deposits 
Security deposits consist of required deposits made with the local utility companies. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $1,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Buildings and Improvements 20 to 40 Years 
 Furniture and Equipment 3 to 7 Years 
 Textbooks 5 Years 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Debt Issuance Costs 
The School incurred costs totaling $362,062 associated with securing financing under the 
Indiana Finance Authority Education Facilities Revenue Bond. Amortization is provided on a 
straight-line basis over the 30-year term of the bond. Accumulated amortization as of 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $102,584 and $90,517. Amortization expense was $12,069 for 
each year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. As provided by ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the 
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, debt issuance costs are presented as a direct 
deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability. 
 
Taxes on Income 
The School has received a determination from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be subject to tax on income 
unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the year ended June 30, 2024, no accounting for 
federal and state income taxes was required to be included in the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of the School are 
subject to examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities, generally for three years after 
they were filed. 
 
Leases 
The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in 
the balance sheet. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Leases (Continued) 
ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. 
 
The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The School evaluated subsequent events through October 17, 2024, the date these financial 
statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have been 
evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related disclosures 
would be required. 
 
 

NOTE 2 RESTRICTED CASH 

Cash and cash equivalents restricted for debt service is reserved solely for the payment of 
principal and interest on the bond in the event that other funding is unavailable to meet 
payment requirements. Of the total balance, approximately $600,000 is to be held until all 
bond debt is paid. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents restricted for prepaid interest represents escrowed prepayments 
of interest due on the bond in future years. 
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NOTE 3 DEBT 

Debt was comprised of the following at June 30, 2024: 
 

2024 2023
Description
Indiana Finance Authority Educational Facilities
Revenue Bond, Series 2015A with an original amount 
of $7,230,000. The principal amount was reduced by
$760,000 using financing from the state of Indiana.
The loan principal is payable in annual installments 
that increase from $155,000 to $580,000 from 
December 2026 to December 2045. Interest payments 
are made semi-annually at a rate of 7.25% in accordance 
with the bond agreement. The bond obligation is secured 
by land, buildings, and improvements. 6,470,000$      6,470,000$      

Note payable to the Indiana Common School Fund with 
an original amount of $1,175,000. The note requires 
semi-annual payments of $58,750 plus interest at 1% 
per annum from January 2017 to July 2026. 293,750           411,250           

Total 6,763,750        6,881,250        

Less: Current Portion (117,500)          (117,500)          

Long-Term Portion 6,646,250$      6,763,750$       
 
The Indiana Finance Authority Educational Facilities Revenue Bond agreement contains 
certain financial covenants pertaining to cash reserves and minimum debt service coverage. 
The School was in compliance with covenants for June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Principal maturities of debt are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 117,500$         
2026 117,500           
2027 223,750           
2028 175,000           
2029 190,000           

Thereafter 5,940,000        
Total 6,763,750$       
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NOTE 4 LEASES 

The School leases two copiers from a third party under a long-term, noncancelable lease 
agreement. The lease expires in 2024. In the normal course of business, it is expected that 
this lease will be renewed or replaced by similar leases. Lease expense associated with all 
third party leases was $1,790 and $7,161 for the year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
The following tables provide quantitative information concerning the School’s leases for the 
year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively: 
 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Operating Lease Cost: 6,865$             7,161$             

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 6,865$             7,161$             
Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for New

Operating Lease Liabilities: -$                     15,113$           
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 

Operating Leases: .3 years 1.3 years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 6.00% 6.00%

 
 
A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024 
is as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2025 1,790$             

Undiscounted Cash Flows 1,790               
Less: Imputed Interest (9)                     

Total Present Value 1,781$             

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 1,781$             
Long-Term Lease Liabilities -                       

Total 1,781$             
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NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLANS 

The School provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ Retirement Fund (TRF) 
and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of which are cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the state of Indiana and 
administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. Contribution 
requirements of plan members are determined annually by the INPRS Board. For the year 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School contributed 5.5% of compensation for eligible 
teaching personnel to TRF and 11.2% for other employees to PERF. Should the School 
elect to withdraw from TRF or PERF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. The School’s 
contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total contributions received by TRF 
and PERF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF were 
approximately 93% and 85% funded, respectively. 
 
The School also maintains a Section 403(b) retirement plan. Employees may contribute up 
to 100% of their compensation provided they are at least 18 years of age and have at least 
30 days of employment. There is no provision for an employer match. 
 
Retirement plan expenses totaled $122,260 an $145,934 during the year ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 6 COMMITMENTS 

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 2% of state tuition support. Payments under this charter agreement were $75,218 
and $73,786 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains 
in effect until June 30, 2027, and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. 
 
The School has a contract with All Square Roofing for completion of a new roof for a total of 
$54,067. A down payment was made of $18,383 prior to June 30, 2024. The remaining 
balance of $35,685 will be paid once the work is completed, which the School expects to 
complete the project during the next fiscal year. 
 
 

NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Porter and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area. 
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NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED) 

The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Any changes in state or federal legislation could 
significantly impact the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by 
state and federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be 
imposed on the School. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
100% and 95%, of the net receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana, 
respectively. 
 
The School primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at various 
financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may exceed insured 
limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, the School has not experienced losses in any 
of these accounts. 
 
 

NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the date of 
the statement of financial position. Financial assets for the School include cash, grants, and 
student fees receivable. 
 

2024 2023
Financial Assets 3,066,143$      2,425,533$      
Less: Those Unavailable for General Expenditures
  Within One Year, Due to:

Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted for Debt 
  Service (694,204)          (651,824)          
Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted for Construction (9,361)              (7,030)              

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs
  for General Expenditures Within One Year 2,362,578$      1,766,679$       

 
From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.  
 



DUNELAND CHARTER SCHOOL, INC. 
DBA: DISCOVERY CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(15) 

 
NOTE 9 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories is required. 
 
 

NOTE 10 EMPLOYEE RETENTION CREDIT 

The Employee Retention Credit (ERC) was established by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act in March 2020. It provided a per employee credit to eligible 
businesses based on a percentage of qualified wages and health insurance benefits paid for 
employees in an effort to help business retain their workforce and avoid layoffs. It is a 
refundable payroll tax credit that could be claimed quarterly if certain criteria were met. 
 
For the fourth quarter of 2020, the School complied with the conditions of ERC funding from 
the U.S. Treasury in the amount of $273,690. 
 
For the first, second, and third quarters of 2021, the School complied with the conditions of 
ERC funding from the U.S. Treasury in the amount of $869,400. 
 
Grants related to this program are classified as grants receivable. The University recognized 
a grant receivable and loss contingency of $1,143,090 related to eligibility uncertainty and 
ongoing IRS audit of the ERC claim during the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, the School received ERC funding from the IRS in the 
amount of $605,574. During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School received ERC 
funding from the IRS in the amount of $334,997. Due to the eligibility uncertainty and 
ongoing IRS audit of the School’s ERC claim, the School has classified these funds as 
refundable advances. 
 
The IRS may review funding eligibility of funds for compliance with program requirements 
based on dollar thresholds and other factors. 
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
School as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Duneland Charter School, Inc. 
dba: Discovery Charter School 

 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.  
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MILEAGE REIMBURSMENT 
During our testing of the travel vouchers, we discovered 4 of the 7 items tested had incorrect 
mileage rates being used in the calculation for reimbursement. The 2022 rate was used to 
calculate reimbursements from 2023 and 2024. School Policy is to follow the federal mileage 
rate. The amount of $38.22 should have been reimbursed to employees for those sampled.  

The charter school must establish a travel policy that details the procedures for an employee to 
get approval to attend meetings and conferences; must detail when an employee is in travel 
status; must detail the procedures for employees to get reimbursement for travel expenses; and 
the policy must establish a reasonable mileage reimbursement rate. (Guidelines for the Audits 
of Charter Schools Performed by Private Examiners) 
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The contents of this report were discussed with Greg Guernsey, Executive Director, Mariette 
Siler, Ball State University Charter Authorizer representative, and representatives from The 
Gabriele Group, outsourced accounting, on October 17, 2024. The School’s official response 
has been made part of this report beginning on page 5. 

 

 



RESPONSE TO SUPPLEMENTAL AUDIT JULY 1, 2023 - JUNE 30, 2024 

We acknowledge that the outdated IRS Mileage Rate was incorrectly used for a portion of travel reimbursement 
checks to employees. We have since provided Employees with the updated IRS Mileage Rate, updated internal 
spreadsheets used to track mileage and calculate reimbursement, and reviewed policy to ensure proper review of 
reimbursements at all relevant levels (i.e. Employee, Superintendent, Business Manager). 

In response to the Audit Results and Comments, Discovery Charter School has reviewed its Travel Policy 
outlined as follows: 

 Employees Must Obtain Approval from Superintendent to Attend Meetings & Conferences
 Employees Must Provide Meeting & Conference Information and All Travel Receipts
 Employees Must Use Internal Spreadsheet Provided to Track Days Traveled and Mileage
 Employees Must Submit Above Mileage Tracker with Current IRS Mileage Rate for Reimbursement
 Both Superintendent Must Review Employee Reimbursement Request for Accuracy Related to:

o Days Traveled
o Miles Traveled
o IRS Mileage Rate
o Computation of Eligible Reimbursement

Employees and Management attest Travel Policy has been reviewed and will be reinforced. 

(5)
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Board of Directors
East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc.

(2)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit.
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 2,221,727$     1,199,265$     
Grants and Accounts Receivable 1,015,434       886,493          
Prepaid Expenses 56,854            45,636            

Total Current Assets 3,294,015       2,131,394       

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings and Improvements 2,408,538       2,408,538       
Furniture and Equipment 1,211,232       1,077,045       
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,980,070)      (1,755,065)      

Property and Equipment, Net 1,639,700       1,730,518       

OTHER ASSETS
Security Deposit 7,803              7,803              
Right-of-Use Asset - Operating 566,530          827,487          

Total Other Assets 574,333          835,290          

Total Assets 5,508,048$     4,697,202$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable 119,229$        110,472$        
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 557,250          441,076          
Deferred Revenue 398,061          101,356          
Current Portion of Lease Liability - Operating 278,501 265,383          

Total Current Liabilities 1,353,041       918,287          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Lease Liability - Operating 298,024          570,586          
Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion 96,018            223,620          

Total Long-Term Liabilities 394,042          794,206          

Total Liabilities 1,747,083       1,712,493       

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 3,760,965       2,984,709       

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 5,508,048$     4,697,202$     
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 3,774,764$     3,448,001$     
Grant Revenue 3,952,755       3,408,314       
Student Fees 32,776            9,247              
Contributions 41,149            1,277              
Other Income 20,803            54,928            

Total Revenue and Support 7,822,247       6,921,767       

EXPENSES
Program Services 5,769,896       5,123,581       
Management and General 1,276,095       1,040,941       

Total Expenses 7,045,991       6,164,522       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 776,256          757,245          

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 2,984,709       2,227,464       

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 3,760,965$     2,984,709$     
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Program Management Program Management

Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 2,659,218$   326,510$      2,985,728$   2,669,439$   224,297$      2,893,736$   
Employee Benefits 900,073        83,292          983,365        744,182        64,699          808,881        
Professional Services 472,688        19,886          492,574        314,038        8,797            322,835        
Depreciation 225,005        -                    225,005        236,661        -                    236,661        
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 436,375        -                    436,375        278,817        -                    278,817        
Food Costs 357,899        -                    357,899        177,061        -                    177,061        
Insurance -                    37,337          37,337          -                    42,657          42,657          
Occupancy 386,613        -                    386,613        398,254        -                    398,254        
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                    70,918          70,918          -                    66,146          66,146          
Management Services -                    674,789        674,789        -                    600,580        600,580        
Property Rental and Maintenance 43,271          -                    43,271          66,100          -                    66,100          
Contract Services -                    -                    -                    1,795            -                    1,795            
Interest -                    22,403          22,403          -                    20,945          20,945          
Advertising -                    9,183            9,183            -                    12,077          12,077          
Travel 22,594          -                    22,594          24,294          -                    24,294          
Information Technology 222,919        -                    222,919        175,277        -                    175,277        
Other 43,241          31,777          75,018          37,663          743               38,406          

Total Functional Expenses 5,769,896$   1,276,095$   7,045,991$   5,123,581$   1,040,941$   6,164,522$   

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets 776,256$        757,245$        
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Noncash Lease Expense 1,513              8,482              
Depreciation 225,005          236,661          
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Grants Receivable (128,941)         (477,443)         
Prepaid Expenses (11,218)           (7,859)             
Security Deposit -                      55,895            
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 116,174          131,353          
Deferred Revenue 296,705          41,733            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,275,494       746,067          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment (134,187)         (280,248)         

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Payments on Notes Payable (118,845)         (98,482)           

NET CHANGE IN CASH 1,022,462       367,337          

Cash - Beginning of Year 1,199,265       831,928          

CASH - END OF YEAR 2,221,727$     1,199,265$     

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash Paid for Interest 22,403$          20,945$          
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc. (the School) is a public benefit nonprofit 
organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School operates a 
public charter school established under Indiana Code 20-24 serving approximately 428
students in grades kindergarten through eighth and is sponsored by Ball State University.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which the educational 
services are rendered.

A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. As of June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the School had $398,061, 
$101,356, and $59,623, respectively of conditional grants that have not been recognized as 
revenue in the statement of activities because conditions have not been met and are 
included as deferred revenue in the statement of financial position.

Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the promised good or service 
is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Cash

The School considers all demand accounts to be cash.

Grants Receivable and Revenue

Grants receivable and revenue relate primarily to activities funded under federal programs. 
The School believes that it is operating in compliance with regulatory requirements and as 
such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed necessary.

Contributions, Grants, and Fees

The School receives income from contributions, student fees, and fundraising events that 
support certain school activities. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that 
they are received with stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that 
is, when the purpose or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions 
are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of 
activities and change in net assets as net assets released from restrictions.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxes on Income

East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc. has received a determination from the U.S. 
Treasury Department stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be subject 
to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024
and 2023, no accounting for federal and state income taxes was included in the 
accompanying financial statements.

Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of the School are 
subject to examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities, generally for three years after 
they were filed.

Property and Equipment

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Depreciation is provided over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the straight-line method. The estimated 
useful lives generally are as follows:

Asset Category Capitalization Threshold Estimated Useful Life

Buildings and Improvements $25,000 5 to 40 Years

Furniture and Equipment:
   Individual Items $5,000 3 to 7 Years

Aggregate of Similar of Identical
  Items on a Single Purchase Order $12,500 3 to 7 Years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows.

Leases

The School determines if an arrangement is a least at inception. Operating leases are 
included in operating lease right-of-use (ROU) assets and operating lease liabilities on the 
statement of financial position.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on 
the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options 
to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise 
that option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are 
not included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the statement of financial position.

The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of 
lease liabilities.

The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component.

The School lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or 
material restrictive covenants.

In evaluating contracts to determine if they qualify as a lease, the School considers factors 
such as if the School has obtained substantially all of the rights to the underlying asset 
through exclusivity, if the School can direct the use of the asset by making decisions about 
how and for what purpose the asset will be used and if the lessor has substantive 
substitution rights. This evaluation may require significant judgement.

Adoption of New Accounting Principles

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of amounts previous reported have been made to the
accompanying financial statement to maintain consistency between periods presented. The
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net assets.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Subsequent Events

The School evaluated subsequent events through December 18, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required.

NOTE 2 NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable were comprised of the following at June 30:

Description 2024 2023

Mortgage note payable in monthly installments of
$10,538 including interest at 4.75% through February
2022, thereafter payable in monthly installments of 
$10,437 including interest at a variable rate based on
One-Year Treasury Constant Maturity rate plus margin
of 3.00%, adjustable annually, through March 2026,
secured by a mortgage on School facilities and
all School assets. 215,247$        334,092$        

Less: Current Portion (119,229)         (110,472)         

Long-Term Portion 96,018$          223,620$        

Principal maturities of notes payable are as follows for the years ending June 30:

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 119,229$        
2026 96,018            
2027 -

Total 215,247$        
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NOTE 3 LEASES

The School leases various equipment and facilities from third parties under a long-term, 
noncancelable lease agreement. The leases expire at various times through 2026. In the 
normal course of business, it is expected that this lease will be renewed or replaced by 
similar leases. Lease expense associated with all third-party leases was $286,919 for the 
year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 .

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Operating Lease Cost 286,919$        286,919$        
Other Information:

Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 285,407$        287,437$        
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term -
  Operating Leases 2.1 Years 3 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating
  Leases 2.87% 2.87%

A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024
is as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Operating
2025 278,501$        
2026 279,218          
2027 35,564            

Undiscounted Cash Flows 593,283          
Less: Present Value Discount (16,758)           

Total Present Value 576,525$        

Short-Term Lease Liability 278,501$        
Long-Term Lease Liability 298,024

Total 576,525$        

NOTE 4 RETIREMENT PLANS

Retirement benefits for School employees are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ 
Retirement Fund (TRF) and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of 
which are cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the 
state of Indiana and administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. 
Substantially all full-time employees are eligible to participate.

Contribution requirements of plan members are established by the INPRS Board. Under the 
plans, the School contributes 7.5% of compensation for teaching faculty to TRF and 11.2% 
of compensation for other employees to PERF. The School’s contributions represent an 
insignificant percentage of the total contributions received by TRF and PERF. As of June 30, 
2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF were approximately 95% and 85% funded, 
respectively.
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NOTE 4 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

Retirement plan expense was $238,547 and $212,227 for the years ended June 30, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 5 COMMITMENTS

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support. Payments under this charter agreement were $70,918
and $66,146 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains 
in effect until June 30, 2026 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent.

The School has contracted with The Leona Group, LLC to provide financial, management, 
administrative and educational programming services. Under the terms of the agreement, 
the School agrees to pay an amount equal to 10% of revenues, as defined, for such 
services. The contract will expire June 30, 2026. Payments under this agreement were 
$674,789 and $600,580 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 6 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Lake and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area.

The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Any changes in state or federal legislation could 
significantly impact the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by 
state and federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be 
imposed on the School.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024, substantially all 
of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. In addition, bank deposits are 
maintained primarily at Peoples Bank, and are insured up to the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) limit.

NOTE 7 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING

The cost of providing educational activities have been summarized on a functional basis in 
the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School has 
categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to the 
underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation between these categories of 
expenses was required.
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NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. The School’s financial assets include cash 
and grants receivable. Financial assets at June 30, 2024 and 2023 total $3,237,161 and 
$2,085,758, respectively, all of which are available to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures within one year.

While the School has $3,237,161 and $2,085,758 in financial assets available to meet cash 
needs for general expenditures within one year, it also has $1,353,041 and $918,287 in 
current liabilities as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which must be paid using 
these available financial assets, future year state tuition support, or some combination of the 
two.

From time to time, the School receives donor restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
School as listed below:

Supplemental Audit Report of
East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc.

The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
December 18, 2024
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the School’ compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about the School’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the School compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the School’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’ internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
December 18, 2024
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Pass-Through

Assistance Entity Passed-

Listing Identifying Through to Federal

Federal Agency/Pass-Through Agency/Program Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures

U.S. Department of Agriculture

Passed-through Indiana Department of Education - 

  Child Nutrition Cluster:

National School Breakfast Program 10.553 N/A -$                    90,027$           

Cash Assistance - National School Lunch Program 10.555 N/A -                      271,832           

After School Snack Program 10.555 N/A -                      2,682               

Total Child Nutrition Cluster -                      364,541           

Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program 10.582 N/A -                      12,801             

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture -                      377,342           

Department of Education

Passed-through Indiana Department of Education:

Title I, Part A 2122 84.010 S010A220014 -                      31,489             

Title I, Part A 2223 84.010 S010A230014 -                      601,379           

Total Title I, Part A -                      632,868           

Special Education Cluster (IDEA):

Special Education Grants to States IDEA, Part B  2324 84.027 H027A230084 -                      88,649             

Special Education Grants to States IDEA, Part B Preschool 84.027 H173A230104 -                      1,422               

Special Education Grants to States IDEA, ARP 84.027X H027X210084 -                      22,221             

IDEA Part B 611 Total -                      112,292           

Special Education Grants to States IDEA, ARO 84.173X H173X210104 -                      1,649               

Total Special Education Cluster -                      113,941           

Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants, Title II - Part A:

Title II, Part A  2223 84.367 S367A220013 -                      16,992             

Title II, Part A  2324 84.367 S367A230013 -                      29,036             

Total Title II, Part A -                      46,028             
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Pass-Through

Assistance Entity Passed-

Listing Identifying Through to Federal

Federal Agency/Pass-Through Agency/Program Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures

Department of Education (Continued)

Passed-through Indiana Department of Education (Continued):

Student Support & Academic Enrichment - Title IV:

Title IV 2122 84.424 S424A210015 -$                    9,928$             

Title IV 2223 84.424 S424A220015 -                      24,713             

Title IV 2324 84.424 S424A230015 -                      8,358               

Total Title IV -                      42,999             

Education Stabilization Fund Program:

COVID-19 ESSER Formula Fund II 84.425D S425D210013 -                      50,107             

COVID-19 ESSER Formula Fund III - ARP 84.425U S425U210013 -                      1,999,594        

Total Education Stabilization Fund Program -                      2,049,701        

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture -                      2,885,537        

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards -$                    3,262,879$      
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NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal award activity of East Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc. under programs of 
the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2024. The information in this Schedule 
is presented in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of East 
Chicago Urban Enterprise Academy, Inc. it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of East Chicago Urban Enterprise 
Academy, Inc.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits 
made in the normal course of business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

The School has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimus indirect cost rate to recover 
indirect costs as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

1. Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified

2. Internal control over financial reporting:

 Material weakness(es) identified?         yes         x no

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?         yes         x         none reported

3. Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted?         yes         x no

Federal Awards

1. Internal control over major federal programs:

 Material weakness(es) identified?         yes         x no

 Significant deficiency(es) identified?          yes         x        none reported

2. Type of auditors’ report issued on
compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified

3. Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with
2 CFR 200.516(a)?         yes           x no

Identification of Major Federal Programs

Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster
84.425 Education Stabilization Funds

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs: $      750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?         yes           x no



EAST CHICAGO URBAN ENTERPRISE ACADEMY, INC.
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT)

(25)

Section II – Financial Statement Findings

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards.

Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a).
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Office Official Term

Chairman of Board of Directors John Artis 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024
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CAPITAL ASSETS

The School was unable to provide records showing a complete inventory was taken within the last two 
years as required.

Every charter school must have a complete inventory of all capital assets owned which reflects their 
acquisition value. Such inventory must be recorded on the applicable Capital Asset Ledger. A complete 
inventory shall be taken for good internal control and for verifying account balances carried in the 
accounting records. (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana Charter 
Schools, Part 15). 
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The contents of this report were discussed on December 12, 2024 with Ms. Veronica Eskew (School 
Leader), Mr. John Artis (Chairman of Board of Directors), Melinda Benkovsky and Renee Lindemann 
(Leona Group). The Official Response has been made a part of this report and may be found on page 
5.







Geist Montessori Academy

[to be added when completed] 



Hoosier College and Career Academy 





HOOSIER ACADEMY, INC. 
DBA: HOOSIER COLLEGE AND CAREER ACADEMY 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4 

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 5 

STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 6 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 7 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 8 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULES OF FINANCIAL POSITION BY SCHOOL 16 

SCHEDULES OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BY SCHOOL 18 

OTHER REPORT 20 

SINGLE AUDIT REPORTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 21 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 23 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 26 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 27 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 28 





Board of Directors 
Hoosier Academy, Inc. 
dba: Hoosier College and Career Academy 

(2) 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to 
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to 
be issued. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 
accompanying supplementary information and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required 
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated  
December 23, 2024, on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
December 23, 2024 
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 1,170,054$      752,764$         
Accounts Receivable:

Grants 586,370           607,553           
Prepaid Expenses 9,135               9,410               

Total Current Assets 1,765,559        1,369,727        

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture and Equipment 29,051             29,051             
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (29,051)            (29,051)            

Property and Equipment, Net -                       -                       

Right-of-Use Asset - Operating, Net 22,392             64,377             

Total Assets 1,787,951$      1,434,104$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:

K12 Classroom, LLC 1,006,603$      958,240$         
Other 757,445           411,095           

Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Current Portion 12,994             41,985             
Total Current Liabilities 1,777,042        1,411,320        

Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Noncurrent Portion 9,398               22,392             
Total Liabilities 1,786,440        1,433,712        

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 1,511               392                  

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,787,951$      1,434,104$      
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 7,503,235$      6,041,335$      
Grant Revenue 1,344,570        1,054,911        
Contributions and Donations 117                  153                  
Other 1,489               971                  

Total Revenue and Support 8,849,411        7,097,370        

EXPENSES
Program Services 8,407,559        6,719,993        
Management and General 440,733           376,985           

Total Expenses 8,848,292        7,096,978        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,119               392                  

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 392                  -                       

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 1,511$             392$                
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 2,726,762$       -$                      2,726,762$       2,445,985$       -$                      2,445,985$       
Employee Benefits 756,121            -                        756,121            624,585            -                        624,585            
Staff Development and Recruitment 7,941                -                        7,941                16,813              -                        16,813              
Professional Services 1,360,676         132,202            1,492,878         778,340            110,240            888,580            
Advertising 19,842              -                        19,842              9,847                -                        9,847                
Management Services -                        -                        -                        -                        10,172              10,172              
Food Costs 831                   -                        831                   540                   -                        540                   
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                        189,426            189,426            -                        143,895            143,895            
Equipment Rental and Maintenance 5,743                -                        5,743                5,279                -                        5,279                
Classroom and Office Supplies and Fees 3,288,021         9,764                3,297,785         2,674,052         4,100                2,678,152         
Travel 17,024              -                        17,024              1,113                -                        1,113                
Occupancy 78,019              -                        78,019              59,640              -                        59,640              
Other 146,579            109,341            255,920            103,799            108,578            212,377            

Total Functional Expenses 8,407,559$       440,733$          8,848,292$       6,719,993$       376,985$          7,096,978$       

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets 1,119$             392$                
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable 21,183             (49,633)            
Prepaid Expenses 275                  (159)                 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 394,713           (166,670)          

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 417,290           (216,070)          

Cash - Beginning of Year 752,764           968,834           

CASH - END OF YEAR 1,170,054$      752,764$         
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 
Hoosier Academy, Inc. dba: Hoosier College and Career Academy (Hoosier Academy) is a 
public benefit nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana, and 
is the organizer and governing body of two charter schools located in Indianapolis, Indiana: 
 

• Hoosier Academies Indianapolis is a blended learning program serving students in 
grades K-12, which ceased operations as a charter school effective August 1, 2021. 

• Hoosier College and Career Academy is a fully virtual or online program serving 
students in grades 7-12 who have struggled in their education. 

 
Enrollment during the 2023-2024 school year ranged between approximately 780 and 1100 
students in for the fall and spring semesters, respectively. Each of the schools is a public 
charter school established under Indiana Code 20-24 and is sponsored by Ball State 
University.  
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenues primarily come from conditional resources provided under the Indiana Charter 
Schools Act. Under the Act, Hoosier Academy receives an amount per student similar to the 
funding received by other public schools in Indiana. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which educational services 
are rendered. 
 
A portion of Hoosier Academy’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. 
Therefore, Hoosier Academy recognizes revenue under these grants in the amount of costs 
and expenses at the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying 
expenditures are reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 and 2022, Hoosier Academy has $-0- of conditional grants that 
have not been recognized as revenue in the statements of activities and change in net 
assets because conditions have not been met. 
 
Grants Revenue 
Hoosier Academy receives income from grants and contributions that support certain school 
activities. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with 
stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose 
or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and change in 
net assets as net assets released from restrictions. There were no such restricted revenues 
during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash held in bank accounts and short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. There were no cash 
equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are made up of grants receivable and relate primarily to activities 
funded under federal programs and legislation enacted by the state of Indiana. Hoosier 
Academy believes it is operating in compliance with regulatory requirements and as such no 
allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed necessary. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $1,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Furniture and Equipment 2 to 5 Years 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
On an ongoing basis, Hoosier Academy reviews its long-lived assets for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. 
The School recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be 
generated are less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are 
adjusted to fair value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Taxes on Income 
Hoosier Academy, Inc. has received a determination from the U.S. Treasury Department 
stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the organization would be subject to tax on 
income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
no accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be included in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require Hoosier Academy to recognize a tax liability only 
if it is more likely than not the tax position would not be sustained in a tax examination, with 
a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of 
tax liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions 
not meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. Hoosier Academy has 
examined this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities 
or questionable tax positions. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Taxes on Income (Continued) 
The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of Hoosier Academy are subject to 
examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing authorities, generally for three 
years after they were filed. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standard  
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 

Reclassifications  
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year 
presentation. Net position and changes in net position are unchanged as a result of the 
reclassifications. 

Leases 
Hoosier Academy determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases 
are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and 
finance leases are included in ROU assets – financing and lease liability – financing in the 
balance sheet. 

ROU assets represent Hoosier Academy’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease 
term and lease liabilities represent Hoosier Academy’s obligation to make lease payments 
arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date 
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may 
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that Hoosier 
Academy will exercise that option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Hoosier Academy has elected to 
recognize payments for short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense 
as incurred and these leases are not included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the 
balance sheet. 

The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, Hoosier Academy has elected to use a risk-free discount rate 
determined using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present 
value of all lease liabilities. 

Hoosier Academy has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease 
components and instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease 
component as a single lease component. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Subsequent Events 
Hoosier Academy evaluated subsequent events through December 23, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events and transactions occurring through 
that date have been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or 
related disclosures would be required. 
 
 

NOTE 2 LEASES 

Hoosier Academy leases office equipment and operating facilities under from third parties 
under long-term, noncancelable lease agreements. The leases expire at various dates from 
2024 through 2028. In the normal course of business, it is expected that these leases will be 
renewed or replaced by similar leases. Lease expense associated with all third-party leases 
was $40,876 and $44,561 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Lease Cost: 2024 2023

Operating Lease Cost 40,876$           44,561$           

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 43,447$           41,561$           
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 2.2 Years 2.1 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 3.49% 3.50%  

 
A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024 
is as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Operating
2025 13,447$           
2026 4,159               
2027 2,515               
2028 3,144               

Undiscounted Cash Flows 23,265             
Less: Imputed Interest (873)                 

Total Present Value 22,392$           

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 12,994$           
Long-Term Lease Liabilities 9,398               

Total 22,392$           
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NOTE 3 COMMITMENTS 

Hoosier Academy operates its schools under charters granted by Ball State University. As 
the sponsoring organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight 
responsibilities. Under the charters, Hoosier Academy has agreed to pay to Ball State 
University an annual administrative fee equal to 3% of state tuition support received. 
Payments under the charter agreements were $189,426 and $143,895 for the years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains in effect for Hoosier Academy 
until June 30, 2027 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent.  
 
Hoosier Academy has contracted with K12 Classroom, LLC to provide administrative and 
technology services. Under the terms of the agreement, Hoosier Academy has agreed to 
pay an amount equal to 22% of revenues, as defined, for such services. Such services 
purchased aggregated $1,259,230 and $673,613 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. This agreement remains in effect until June 30, 2027. 
 
K12 Classroom, LLC has agreed to issue credits against the amounts billed for services and 
products provided, if needed, to ensure that Hoosier Academy does not end a fiscal year 
with a financial deficit. 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, service fees were reduced as follows: 
 

Other
Service

Fees
Year Ended June 30, 2024:

Charges per Contract 1,946,502$      
Credit Issued by K12 Classroom LLC (687,272)          

Net Charges 1,259,230$      

Year Ended June 30, 2023:
Charges per Contract 1,563,369$      
Credit Issued by K12 Classroom LLC (889,756)          

Net Charges (Credits) 673,613$          
 
The deficit credits provided by K12 Classroom, LLC are subject to repayment if Hoosier 
Academy experiences a surplus in subsequent fiscal years. The amount of the repayment is 
based on a percentage of the surplus experienced during such fiscal year ranging from 25% 
to 75% dependent upon the amount of the surplus. Any unpaid credits remaining upon 
termination of the agreement are not subject to repayment. Hoosier Academy is not able to 
estimate the amount of the repayment, if any, expected to be made in future years. 
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NOTE 4 RETIREMENT PLANS 

Hoosier Academy provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits for teaching personnel are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ 
Retirement Fund (TRF), which is a cost-sharing multiemployer defined benefit retirement 
plan governed by the state of Indiana and administered by the Indiana Public Retirement 
System (INPRS) Board. Contribution requirements of plan members are determined 
annually by the INPRS Board. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, Hoosier 
Academy contributed 6.0% of compensation for eligible teaching personnel to TRF. Should 
Hoosier Academy elect to withdraw from TRF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. 
Hoosier Academy’s contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total 
contributions received by TRF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF was 
approximately 93% funded. 
 
In lieu of TRF, employees can opt to participate in a Section 403(b) plan sponsored by 
Hoosier Academy. Under this plan, Hoosier Academy contributes 6.0% of compensation, as 
defined. Additional contributions may be made at the discretion of the board of directors. No 
discretionary contributions were made in 2024 or 2023. Retirement plan expense under both 
plans was $166,129 and $123,760 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 5 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

Hoosier Academy provides educational instruction services to families residing in Marion 
and surrounding counties in Indiana, and to students throughout the state of Indiana through 
its virtual curriculum and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive forces at work 
within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect Hoosier Academy. Additionally, Hoosier Academy is subject to monitoring and audit 
by state and federal agencies. Those examinations could result in additional liability to be 
imposed. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject Hoosier Academy to concentrations of credit 
risk consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
substantially all of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. 
 
Hoosier Academy primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at 
various financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may 
exceed insured limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, Hoosier Academy has not 
experienced losses in any of these accounts. 
 



HOOSIER ACADEMY, INC. 
DBA: HOOSIER COLLEGE AND CAREER ACADEMY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 

(14) 

NOTE 6 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, Hoosier Academy is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. The Hoosier Academy’s financial assets 
include cash and grants receivable. Financial assets at June 30, 2024 total $1,756,424, all 
of which are available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year. 
Financial assets at June 30, 2023 total $1,360,317, all of which are available to meet cash 
needs for general expenditures within one year.  

From time to time, Hoosier Academy receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, Hoosier 
Academy must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. 
Thus, financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part 
of Hoosier Academy’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to 
be available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 

NOTE 7 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of Hoosier 
Academy has categorized expenses as program services or management and general 
according to the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific 
transactions between these categories is required. 
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Hoosier Hoosier College
Academy and Career

Indianapolis Academy Total
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 1,511$              1,168,543$       1,170,054$       
Accounts Receivable:

Grants - 586,370 586,370    
Prepaid Expenses - 9,135 9,135        

Total Current Assets 1,511 1,764,048         1,765,559         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture and Equipment - 29,051 29,051      
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (29,051) (29,051)     

Property and Equipment, Net -   - - 

Right of Use Asset - Operating, Net - 22,392 22,392      

Total Assets 1,511$              1,786,440$       1,787,951$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:

K12 Classroom, LLC -$  1,006,603$       1,006,603$       
Other - 757,445 757,445    

Right of Use Liability - Operating, Current Portion - 12,994 12,994      
Total Current Liabilities - 1,777,042 1,777,042         

Right of Use Liability - Operating, Noncurrent Portion - 9,398 9,398        
Total Liabilities - 1,786,440 1,786,440         

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
  RESTRICTIONS 1,511 - 1,511 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,511$              1,786,440$       1,787,951$       
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Hoosier Hoosier College

Academy and Career
Indianapolis Academy Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 211,401$          541,363$          752,764$          
Accounts Receivable:

Grants -                        607,553            607,553            
Prepaid Expenses -                        9,410                9,410                

Total Current Assets 211,401            1,158,326         1,369,727         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture and Equipment -                        29,051              29,051              
Less: Accumulated Depreciation -                        (29,051)             (29,051)             

Property and Equipment, Net -                        -                        -                        

Right of Use Asset - Operating, Net -                        64,377              64,377              

Total Assets 211,401$          1,222,703$       1,434,104$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:

K12 Classroom, LLC 203,701$          754,539$          958,240$          
Other 7,308                403,787            411,095            

Right of Use Liability - Operating, Current Portion -                        41,985              41,985              
Total Current Liabilities 211,009            1,200,311         1,411,320         

Right of Use Liability - Operating, Noncurrent Portion -                        22,392              22,392              
Total Liabilities 211,009            1,222,703         1,433,712         

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
  RESTRICTIONS 392                   -                        392                   

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 211,401$          1,222,703$       1,434,104$       
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Hoosier Hoosier College
Academies and Career
Indianapolis Academy Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support -$  7,503,235$       7,503,235$       
Grant Revenue - 1,344,570 1,344,570      
Contributions and Donations - 117 117 
Other 1,489 - 1,489 

Total Revenue and Support 1,489 8,847,922         8,849,411      

EXPENSES
Program Services - 8,407,559 8,407,559      
Management and General 370 440,363 440,733         

Total Expenses 370 8,847,922         8,848,292      

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,119 - 1,119 

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 392 - 392 

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 1,511$              -$  1,511$              
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Hoosier Hoosier College
Academies and Career
Indianapolis Academy Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support -$  6,041,335$       6,041,335$       
Grant Revenue - 1,054,911 1,054,911      
Contributions and Donations - 153 153 
Other 666 305 971 

Total Revenue and Support 666 7,096,704         7,097,370      

EXPENSES
Program Services - 6,719,993 6,719,993      
Management and General 274 376,711 376,985         

Total Expenses 274 7,096,704         7,096,978      

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 392 - 392 

Net Assets - Beginning of Year - - - 

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 392$  -$  392$  
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for Hoosier 
Academy as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Hoosier Academy, Inc. dba: Hoosier College and Career Academy 
 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
School’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
December 23, 2024 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the School’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about the School’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the School’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the School’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
December 23, 2024 
 
 



HOOSIER ACADEMY, INC. 
DBA: HOOSIER COLLEGE AND CAREER ACADEMY 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

See accompanying Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 
(26) 

Assistance Pass-Through Entity Passed
Federal Grantor/Pass through Grantor/ Listing Identifying Through to Federal

Program or Cluster Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures
Department of Education

Passed through Indiana Department of Education:
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 S010A210014 -$  153,449$            

Total - 84.010 - 153,449 

Special Education Cluster (IDEA)
Special Education Grants to States 84.027 H027A220084 - 368 
Special Education Grants to States 84.027 H027A230084 - 209,467 

Total - 84.027 - 209,835 

Title II Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants 84.367 S367A200013 - 561 
Title II Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants 84.367 S367A230013 - 16,471 

Total - 84.367 - 17,032 

Title IV Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants 84.424A S424A230015 - 10,005 
Total - 84.424A - 10,005 

COVID 19: Educational Stabilization Fund:
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425D S425D210013 - 65,744 

COVID 19: Educational Stabilization Fund:
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425U S425U200013 - 723,792 

Total - 84.425 - 789,536 

Total Department of Education - 1,179,857 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards -$  1,179,857$         
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NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal award activity of Hoosier Academy, Inc. dba: Hoosier College and Career Academy 
(Hoosier Academy) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 
2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because 
the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of Hoosier Academy, it is 
not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash 
flows of Hoosier Academy. 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance for all awards. Under these principles, certain types of expenditures are not 
allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule 
represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to amounts 
reported as expenditures in prior years. 

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE 

The Hoosier Academy has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate 
allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 



HOOSIER ACADEMY, INC. 
DBA: HOOSIER COLLEGE AND CAREER ACADEMY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

(28) 

Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results 

Financial Statements 

1. Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified 

2. Internal control over financial reporting:

• Material weakness(es) identified?  yes         x  no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  yes         x  none reported 

3. Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted?  yes         x  no 

Federal Awards 

1. Internal control over major federal programs:

• Material weakness(es) identified?  yes         x  no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  yes         x  none reported 

2. Type of auditors’ report issued on
compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified 

3. Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with
2 CFR 200.516(a)?  yes         x  no 

Identification of Major Federal Programs 

Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

84.425 Educational Stabilization Fund

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: $   750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?          x  yes  no 
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Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with 2CFR 200.516(a). 
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AVERAGE DAILY MAINTENANCE (ADM) TESTING  
Enrollment documents are required to be maintained by the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE). 
Hoosier Academy, Inc. DBA: Hoosier College and Career Academy (Hoosier Academy) has adopted a 
policy requiring birth certificates, immunization records, and proof of residency. The process used did 
not result in maintaining consistent and complete enrollment records. Hoosier Academy had 1 of 90 
students missing documentation as required by the policy (student was missing a birth certificate). 
 
Records such as paper or electronic enrollment applications, as well as copies of birth certificates and 
proof of residence, etc. as determined by policy or normal practice by the school should be maintained 
(Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana Charter Schools, Part 9). 
 
Officials shall maintain records (enrollment applications, attendance records, reporting forms, etc.) 
which substantiate the number of students claimed for ADM. A student claimed for ADM must be an 
"eligible pupil". An eligible pupil is a student that is enrolled and attending. IC 20-43-1-11.5 defines 
"Enrolled" as registered with a school corporation to attend educational programs offered by or through 
the school corporation; and attending these educational programs or receiving education services. 
IC 20-43-1-7.5 defines "Attending" as physical or virtual presence of a student with the expectation of 
continued services in the education programs for which the student is registered. The process used to 
determine eligible pupil status resulted in two (2) student (fall) of the 90 tested being included in the 
ADM count that did not meet the qualifications of an eligible pupil due to students being unenrolled prior 
to the count day but were included in the count date reporting and certification. 
 
The Organizer is responsible for reporting ADM to the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE). The 
ADM Summary Report shall provide a written certification of ADM to properly document responsibility. 
The ADM Summary Report must be signed by the Superintendent/Principal/Director of Schools and the 
Trustee/Corporate Treasurer and be uploaded to IDOE for each reporting period in the fiscal year. 
Supporting documentation of enrollment and attendance/engagement information by grade and school 
must be maintained for audit. (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines for Indiana Charter 
Schools, Part 9). 
 
Hoosier Academy officials shall contact the Indiana Department of Education, Division of School 
Finance, to determine possible steps to be taken to correct any overpayment applicable to Hoosier 
Academy (specifically Insight School of Indiana) because of incorrect reporting. 
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The contents of this report were discussed on December 17, 2024 with Jayme Short-Deleon (Board 
President), Gary Meyer (Board Treasurer), and representatives from K12, Inc. The Official Response 
has been made a part of this report and may be found on page 5. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Schools’ ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The accompanying supplementary information and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as 
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
January 16, 2025, on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 16, 2025 
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 12,785,558$    11,672,966$    
Grants Receivable 3,463,965        3,374,109

Total Current Assets 16,249,523      15,047,075      

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Improvements 95,900             95,900
Furniture and Equipment 94,944             94,944
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (156,963)          (137,158)          

Property and Equipment, Net 33,881             53,686             

Total Assets 16,283,404$    15,100,761$    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC 5,677,812$      9,621,861$      
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 1,245,602        1,287,085
Deferred Revenue 31,900             22,888             

Total Current Liabilities 6,955,314        10,931,834      

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 9,328,090        4,168,927        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 16,283,404$    15,100,761$    
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 44,085,558$    43,270,407$    
Grant Revenue 9,671,187        8,088,995        
Contributions -                       93,700             
Other 41,542             10,025             

Total Revenue and Support 53,798,287      51,463,127      

EXPENSES
Program Services 41,959,752      43,317,281      
Management and General 6,679,372        7,044,761        

Total Expenses 48,639,124      50,362,042      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 5,159,163        1,101,085        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 4,168,927        3,067,842        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 9,328,090$      4,168,927$      
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Program Management Program Management
Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 12,701,818$  -$                   12,701,818$  12,981,437$  -$                   12,981,437$  
Employee Benefits 3,952,964      -                     3,952,964      4,065,743 -                     4,065,743      
Staff Development and Recruitment 224,135         45,453           269,588         265,588 7,911 273,499         
Authorizer Fees -                     1,157,293      1,157,293      -                     1,222,259 1,222,259      
Professional Services 2,179,945      341,028         2,520,973      1,660,249 351,780 2,012,029      
School Administration and Support Services 6,686,469      3,872,716      10,559,185    7,105,171 4,298,079 11,403,250    
Classroom and Office Supplies 9,023,501      -                     9,023,501      9,572,508 -                     9,572,508      
Technology 5,691,822      -                     5,691,822      5,872,281 -                     5,872,281      
Testing 560,241         -                     560,241         809,901 -                     809,901         
Occupancy 29,799           -                     29,799           30,160 -                     30,160           
Travel 32,112           -                     32,112           24,834 -                     24,834           
Depreciation 19,805           -                     19,805           20,881 -                     20,881           
Equipment 6,973             -                     6,973             11,879 -                     11,879           
Repairs and Maintenance 2,302             -                     2,302             7,201             -                     7,201             
Insurance -                     5,154             5,154             -                     5,078 5,078             
Other 847,866         1,257,728 2,105,594      889,448 1,159,654 2,049,102      

Total Functional Expenses 41,959,752$  6,679,372$    48,639,124$  43,317,281$  7,044,761$    50,362,042$  

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Changes in Net Assets 5,159,163$      1,101,085$      
Adjustments to Reconcile Changes in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 19,805             20,881             
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Grants Receivable (89,856)            (978,763)          
Due to Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC (3,944,049)       1,681,928        
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (41,483)            104,648           
Deferred Revenue 9,012               (12,451)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,112,592        1,917,328        

Cash - Beginning of Year 11,672,966      9,755,638        

CASH - END OF YEAR 12,785,558$    11,672,966$    
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 

Indiana Online Learning Options, Inc. (IOL) is a public benefit nonprofit organization 
incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana, and is the governing body of two virtual 
public charter schools, Indiana Connections Academy (INCA) and Indiana Connections 
Career Academy (INCC). The 2017-2018 school year was the first year of operations for 
INCC. Both INCA and INCC (together referred to as the Schools) operate under Indiana 
Code 20-24 and are sponsored by Ball State University. The Schools are available to 
students residing in the state of Indiana and provide educational instruction to approximately 
6,100 students in grades kindergarten through 12. 
 
Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 

Revenues primarily come from conditional resources provided under the Indiana Charter 
Schools Act. Under the Act, IOL receives an amount per student in relation to the funding 
received by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of 
Indiana is based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June 
coinciding with the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which the 
educational services are rendered. 
 
A portion of IOL’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, IOL 
recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at the time 
they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are reported 
as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
IOL does not have any conditional grants that have not been recognized as revenue in the 
statement of activities because conditions have not been met. 
 
Grants Revenue 

IOL receives income from grants and contributions that support certain school activities. 
These receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with stipulations 
that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose or time 
restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets 
without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and change in net 
assets as net assets released from restrictions. There were no such restricted revenues 
during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents consists of short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. There were no cash 
equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Grants and State Tuition Support Receivable 

Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal grants and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. IOL believes that it is operating in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed 
necessary. IOL believes that all balances will be collected. 
 
Property and Equipment 

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $1,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Leasehold Improvements 3 to 7 Years 
 Furniture and Equipment 5 to 7 Years 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

On an ongoing basis, IOL reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School recognizes 
impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are less than 
the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair value 
based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Taxes on Income 

IOL has received a determination from the Treasury Department stating that it qualifies 
under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt 
organization; however, IOL would be subject to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt 
purpose. For the periods ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, no accounting for federal and 
state income taxes was required to be included in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require IOL to recognize a tax liability only if it is more 
likely than not the tax position would not be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more-likely-than-not test, no tax liability is recorded. IOL has examined this 
issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or questionable 
tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of IOL are subject to 
examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing authorities, generally for three 
years after they were filed. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Change in Accounting Principles 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
 
Leases 

IOL determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in 
right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
ROU assets represent IOL’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease 
liabilities represent IOL’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU 
assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of 
lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to extend or 
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that IOL will exercise that option. Lease 
expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. IOL has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not included as lease liabilities 
or right of use assets on the statement of financial position. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, IOL has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined using a 
period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all lease 
liabilities. 
 
IOL has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and instead 
accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a single lease 
component. 
 
IOL’s facility costs for the year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $29,799 and $30,160, 
respectively. 
 
Subsequent Events 

The School evaluated subsequent events through January 16, 2025, the date these financial 
statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have been 
evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related disclosures 
would be required. 
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NOTE 2 RETIREMENT PLANS 

IOL’s personnel are eligible to participate in a 401(k) retirement plan sponsored by Pearson 
Online & Blended Learning, LLC. Under the plan, IOL matches 100% of employee 
contributions up to 3% of compensation and 50% of employee contributions for the next 3% 
of compensation. IOL may also make additional discretionary contributions. No discretionary 
contributions were made in 2024 and 2023. Retirement plan expense for the years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $299,740 and $265,948, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 3 COMMITMENTS 

INCA and INCC operate under a single charter granted by Ball State University. As the 
sponsoring organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. 
Under the charter, IOL agrees to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support received. Expense under this charter agreement was 
$1,157,293 and $1,222,259 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
charters remain in effect until June 30, 2026 and are renewable thereafter by mutual 
consent. 
 
IOL has contracted with Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC to provide instructional 
materials and services as well as administrative and technology services to IOL. As 
compensation for these services, IOL negotiates a schedule of fees for services for each 
year of the term of agreement, which remains in effect until June 30, 2026. 
 
Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC has agreed to make a contribution and/or issue 
credits against the amounts billed for services and products provided, if needed, to ensure 
that IOL does not end a fiscal year with a financial deficit. The total contribution was $-0- 
and $93,700 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and the credits 
issued to IOL were $-0- for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Such fees were as follows for the years ended June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Enrollment/Unit-Based Fees 16,915,826$    17,040,151$    
Revenue-Based Fees 12,095,094      12,031,784      

Total 29,010,920      29,071,935      
Less: Total Contribution and Credits Issues -                       (93,700)            

Net Fees 29,010,920$    28,978,235$    
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NOTE 4 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

IOL provides educational instruction services in a virtual school environment to families 
residing in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive forces at work 
within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect IOL. Additionally, IOL is subject to monitoring and audit by state and federal agencies. 
Those examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed on IOL. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject IOL to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, substantially 
all of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana.  
 
IOL primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at various 
financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may exceed insured 
limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, IOL has not experienced losses in any of 
these accounts. 
 
 

NOTE 5 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, IOL is required to disclose the assets it has available at June 30, 2024 
and 2023, to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the date of the 
statement of financial position. IOL’s financial assets include cash and grants receivable. 
Financial assets at June 30, 2024 and 2023 totaling $16,249,523 and $15,047,075 
respectively, all of which are available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within 
the next year. 
 
From time to time, IOL receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor restrictions 
require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, IOL must maintain 
sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, financial assets may 
not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the IOL’s liquidity 
management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general 
expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 
 
 

NOTE 6 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and changes in net assets. Management of IOL has 
categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to the 
underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions between 
these categories was required. 
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The report presented herein was prepared in addition to another official report prepared for IOL as 
listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Indiana Online Learning Options, Inc. 
 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools. 
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Indiana Indiana

Connections Connections
Academy Career Academy Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 10,402,577$       2,382,981$         12,785,558$       
Grants Receivable 2,867,220           596,745              3,463,965           
Due from (to) Intercompany 424,032              (424,032)             -                          

Total Current Assets 13,693,829         2,555,694           16,249,523         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Leasehold Improvements 95,900                -                          95,900                
Furniture and Equipment 94,944                -                          94,944                
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (156,963)             -                          (156,963)             

Property and Equipment, Net 33,881                -                          33,881                

Total Assets 13,727,710$       2,555,694$         16,283,404$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC 3,436,261$         2,241,551$         5,677,812$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 1,066,832           178,770              1,245,602           
Deferred Revenue 21,959                9,941                  31,900                

Total Current Liabilities 4,525,052           2,430,262           6,955,314           

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 9,202,658           125,432              9,328,090           

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 13,727,710$       2,555,694$         16,283,404$       

 
 



INDIANA ONLINE LEARNING OPTIONS, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL POSITION BY SCHOOL 

JUNE 30, 2023 
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT) 

 
 

(15) 

 
Indiana Indiana

Connections Connections
Academy Career Academy Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 9,311,427$         2,361,539$         11,672,966$       
Grants Receivable 2,611,411           762,698              3,374,109           
Due from (to) Intercompany 327,630              (327,630)             -                          

Total Current Assets 12,250,468         2,796,607           15,047,075         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Leasehold Improvements 95,900                -                          95,900                
Furniture and Equipment 94,944                -                          94,944                
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (137,158)             -                          (137,158)             

Property and Equipment, Net 53,686                -                          53,686                

Total Assets 12,304,154$       2,796,607$         15,100,761$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to Connections Academy of Indiana, LLC 6,970,790$         2,651,071$         9,621,861$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 1,151,687           135,398              1,287,085           
Deferred Revenue 22,888                -                          22,888                

Total Current Liabilities 8,145,365           2,786,469           10,931,834         

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 4,158,789           10,138                4,168,927           

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 12,304,154$       2,796,607$         15,100,761$       

 
 



INDIANA ONLINE LEARNING OPTIONS, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS BY SCHOOL 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT) 

 
 

(16) 

 
Indiana Indiana

Connections Connections
Academy Career Academy Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 39,138,355$    4,947,203$      44,085,558$    
Grant Revenue 8,466,807        1,204,380        9,671,187        
Other Income 1,562               39,980             41,542             

Total Revenue and Support 47,606,724      6,191,563        53,798,287      

EXPENSES
Program Services 36,632,139      5,327,613        41,959,752      
Management and General 5,930,716        748,656           6,679,372        

Total Expenses 42,562,855      6,076,269        48,639,124      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 5,043,869        115,294           5,159,163        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 4,158,789        10,138             4,168,927        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 9,202,658$      125,432$         9,328,090$      
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Indiana Indiana

Connections Connections
Academy Career Academy Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 38,429,484$    4,840,923$      43,270,407$    
Grant Revenue 7,117,030        971,965           8,088,995        
Contribution Revenue -                       93,700             93,700             
Other Income 8,396               1,629               10,025             

Total Revenue and Support 45,554,910      5,908,217        51,463,127      

EXPENSES
Program Services 38,166,678      5,150,603        43,317,281      
Management and General 6,286,334        758,427           7,044,761        

Total Expenses 44,453,012      5,909,030        50,362,042      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 1,101,898        (813)                 1,101,085        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 3,056,891        10,951             3,067,842        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 4,158,789$      10,138$           4,168,927$      
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 16, 2025 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the School’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about the School’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the School compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the School’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’ internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 



Board of Directors 
Indiana Online Learning Options, Inc. 

(22) 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 16, 2025 
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Federal Pass-Through
Assistance Entity 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ Listing Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

U. S. Department of Education:
Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 S010A220014 22,218$          
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 S010A230014 1,071,488       

Total Assistance Listing Number 84.010 1,093,706       

Special Education Cluster (IDEA)
Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:

Special Education Grants to States 84.027A H027A230084 1,159,956       
Special Education Preschool Grants 84.173A H173A220104 18,015            

Total Special Education Cluster (IDEA) 1,177,971       

Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:
English Language Acquisition State Grants 84.365A S365A230014 12,654            
English Language Acquisition State Grants 84.365A S365A220015 1,801              

Total Assistance Listing Number 84.365 14,455            

Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants (Formerly 
  Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 84.367 S367A220013 22,198            
  Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 84.367 S367A230013 140,111          

Total Assistance Listing Number 84.367 162,309          

Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 84.424A S424A220015 7,556              
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 84.424A S424A230015 39,005            

Total Assistance Listing Number 84.424 46,561            

Passed-Through from Indiana Department of Education:
COVID 19: Education Stabilization Fund: 

Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425U S425U200013 3,269,106       
COVID 19: Education Stabilization Fund: 

Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425U S425U210013 437,962          
COVID 19: Education Stabilization Fund: 

Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 84.425W S425W210015 15,713            
Total Assistance Listing Number 84.425 3,722,781       

Total U.S. Department of Education 6,217,783       

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 6,217,783$     
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NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal award activity of Indiana Online Learning Options, Inc. (the School) under programs 
of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2024. The information in this 
Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only 
a selected portion of the operations of the School, it is not intended to and does not present 
the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the School. 
 
 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance for all awards. Under these principles, certain types of expenditures are not 
allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule 
represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to amounts 
reported as expenditures in prior years. 
 
 

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE 

The School has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. 
 
 

NOTE 4 SUBRECIPIENTS 

The School did not make any federal awards to subrecipients during the year ended 
June 30, 2024. 
 

 



INDIANA ONLINE LEARNING OPTIONS, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
 
 
 

(25) 

 
Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results 

 
Financial Statements 
 

1. Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified 
 

2. Internal control over financial reporting: 
 

 Material weakness(es) identified?           yes         x  no 
 

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?           yes         x  none reported 
 

3. Noncompliance material to financial  
statements noted?           yes         x  no 

 
 
Federal Awards 
 

1. Internal control over major federal programs: 
 

 Material weakness(es) identified?            yes         x  no 
 

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?           yes         x  none reported 
 

2. Type of auditors’ report issued on  
compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified 

 
3. Any audit findings disclosed that are required 

to be reported in accordance with  
2 CFR 200.516(a)?            yes         x  no 

 
 
Identification of Major Federal Programs 
 
Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
 
 84.425 Education Stabilization Fund 
  
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: $   750,000  
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?          x  yes           no 
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Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs 

Our audit did not disclose any matters required to be reported in accordance with 2CFR 200.516(a). 
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No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. 
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The contents of this report were discussed on January 3, 2025, with the School’s Executive Director 
Kelly Simone and representatives from Pearson Education.  
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No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 that required an official response. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of NWILCS’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about NWILCS’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The accompanying supplementary information and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as 
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated  
January 24, 2025, on our consideration of NWILCS’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of NWILCS’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering NWILCS’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 24, 2025 
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2024 2023
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 8,246,339$      7,017,264$      
Cash - Restricted for Bond Interest 400,120           396,044      
Accounts Receivable:

Grants 8,790,049        5,979,699   
Other 66,150             49,226        

Prepaid Expenses 52,101             289,613      
Total Current Assets 17,554,759      13,731,846      

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 15,948,198      15,413,048      

OTHER ASSETS
Cash - Restricted for Debt Service 1,682,430        1,689,288   
Cash - Restricted for Property Repairs and Replacement 533,103           370,467      
Right-of-Use Asset, Net 464,726           376,739      

Total Other Assets 2,680,259        2,436,494   

Total Assets 36,183,216$    31,581,388$    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Bonds Payable 335,000$         375,000$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 1,345,043        1,881,847   
Right-of-Use Liability, Current 175,001           169,318      

Total Current Liabilities 1,855,044        2,426,165   

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Right-of-Use Liability, Noncurrent 289,725           207,421      
Bonds Payable 17,648,332      17,983,332      
Less: Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (188,925)          (198,141)     

Total Long-Term Liabilities, Net of Unamortized Debt
  Issuance Costs 17,459,407      17,785,191      

Total Liabilities 19,604,176      20,418,777      

NET ASSETS, WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 16,579,040      11,162,611      

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 36,183,216$    31,581,388$    
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 15,147,860$    13,949,196$    
Grant Revenue 15,791,749      17,767,651      
Student Fees 82,001             96,572             
Contributions 754                  23,072             
Interest 149,459           86,583             
Other 90,834             17,947             

Total Revenue and Support 31,262,657      31,941,021      

EXPENSES
Program Services 22,312,015      23,457,829      
Management and General 3,534,213        3,536,099        

Total Expenses 25,846,228      26,993,928      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 5,416,429        4,947,093        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 9,177,138        4,230,045        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 14,593,567$    9,177,138$      
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Program Management
Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 11,203,601$    1,414,879$      12,618,480$    
Employee Benefits 2,666,701        189,071           2,855,772        
Staff Development and Recruitment 401,406           169,378           570,784           
Academic Services - Lighthouse Academics 361,958           -                       361,958           
Authorizer Oversight Fee -                       244,036           244,036           
Food Service 1,040,949        35,942             1,076,891        
Transportation Service 1,391,518        -                       1,391,518        
Information Technology 614,171           506,598           1,120,769        
Other Professional Services 184,974           619,066           804,040           
Equipment Rental and Expenses 22,293             4,646               26,939             
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 1,388,923        51,544             1,440,467        
Occupancy 977,669           218,576           1,196,245        
Rent 14,880             71,261             86,141             
Depreciation 732,687           -                       732,687           
Interest 1,310,285        9,216               1,319,501        

Total Expenses by Function 22,312,015$    3,534,213$      25,846,228$    
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Program Management
Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 9,283,860$      2,387,227$      11,671,087$    
Employee Benefits 2,649,484        141,875           2,791,359        
Staff Development and Recruitment 57,106             7,948               65,054             
Academic Services - Lighthouse Academics -                       125,179           125,179           
Authorizer Oversight Fee -                       266,246           266,246           
Food Service 946,697           -                       946,697           
Transportation Service 961,999           -                       961,999           
Information Technology 105,868           -                       105,868           
Other Professional Services 1,731,176        417,366           2,148,542        
Equipment Rental and Expenses 894,818           -                       894,818           
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 3,628,180        53,939             3,682,119        
Occupancy 990,218           55,913             1,046,131        
Depreciation 648,610           -                       648,610           
Interest 1,334,269        -                       1,334,269        
Other 225,544           80,406             305,950           

Total Expenses by Function 23,457,829$    3,536,099$      26,993,928$    
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Changes in Net Assets 5,416,429$      4,947,093$      
Adjustments to Reconcile Changes in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 732,687           648,610           
Amortization 9,216               9,216               

Changes in Certain Assets and Liabilities:
Grants Receivable (2,810,350)       (2,761,571)       
Other Receivables (16,924)            5,570               
Prepaid Expenses 237,512           (150,231)          
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (536,804)          (684)                 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,031,766        2,698,003        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment (1,267,837)       (708,253)          

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Repayment of Bonds Payable (375,000)          (355,000)          

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH 1,388,929        1,634,750        

Cash and Restricted Cash - Beginning of Year 9,473,063        7,838,313        

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH - END OF YEAR 10,861,992$    9,473,063$      

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH
Cash - Unrestricted 8,246,339$      7,017,264$      
Cash - Restricted for Bond Interest 400,120           396,044           
Cash - Restricted for Debt Service 1,682,430        1,689,288        
Cash - Restricted for Property Repairs and Replacement 533,103           370,467           

Cash and Restricted Cash - End of Year 10,861,992$    9,473,063$      

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 1,310,287$      1,325,052$      

 
 



NORTHWEST INDIANA LIGHTHOUSE CHARTER SCHOOLS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(9) 

 
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 
Northwest Indiana Lighthouse Charter Schools (NWILCS), a public benefit nonprofit 
organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana, is the organizer and 
governing body of two charter schools located in Indiana. Both schools are public charter 
schools established under Indiana Code 20-24 and are sponsored by Ball State University. 
Gary Lighthouse Charter School served approximately 1,100 students in grades 
kindergarten through 12 and East Chicago Lighthouse Charter School served approximately 
470 students in grades kindergarten through eight during the 2023 - 2024 school year. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the schools receive an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic areas. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and is paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which educational services 
are rendered.  
 
A portion of NWILCS’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Accordingly, 
NWILCS recognizes revenue under these grants in the amount of costs and expenses at the 
time they are incurred. 
 
Grants Revenue and Contributions 
NWILCS receives income from grants and contributions that support certain school 
activities. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with 
stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose 
or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and change in 
net assets as net assets released from restrictions. When restricted support is received and 
the restriction is satisfied in the current year, the activity is reported in net assets without 
donor restrictions. NWILCS did not have any conditional grants or contributions as of 
June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Cash and Restricted Cash 
Cash and restricted cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents 
consists of short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. There were no cash equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Grants Receivable 
Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal grants and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. NWILCS believes that it is operating in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed 
necessary. 
 
Property and Equipment  
Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $5,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 

Building and Improvements  30 Years 
Furniture and Equipment  3 to 5 Years 

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
On an ongoing basis, NWILCS reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events 
or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. NWILCS recognizes 
impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are less than 
the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair value 
based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Debt Issuance Costs 
NWILCS incurred debt issuance costs totaling $258,046 associated with securing financing 
under Indiana Finance Authority Education Facilities Revenue Bonds. Amortization of the 
debt issuance costs is provided on a straight-line basis over the term of the bonds 
(27 years). Accumulated amortization was $69,121 and $59,905 as of June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. Amortization expense was $9,216 for the years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023. As provided by ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance 
Costs, debt issuance costs are presented on the statements of financial position as a direct 
deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability. 
 
Taxes on Income 
NWILCS has received a determination from the U.S. Treasury Department stating that it 
qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-
exempt organization; however, NWILCS would be subject to tax on income unrelated to its 
tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, no accounting for 
federal and state income taxes was required to be included in the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 



NORTHWEST INDIANA LIGHTHOUSE CHARTER SCHOOLS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(11) 

 
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Taxes on Income (Continued) 
Professional accounting standards require NWILCS to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more-likely-than-not test, no tax liability is recorded. NWILCS has examined this 
issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or questionable 
tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of NWILCS are subject to 
examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities, generally for three years after they were 
filed. 
 
Change in Accounting Principles  
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined. 
 
Leases 
NWILCS determines if an arrangement is a least at inception. Operating leases are included 
in operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. 
 
ROU assets represent NWILCS right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease 
liabilities represent the NWILCS obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. 
ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that NWILCS will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. NWILCS has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not included 
as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the statement of financial position. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, NWILCS has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined using 
a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of lease 
liabilities. 
 
NWILCS has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
NWILCS lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or 
material restrictive covenants. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Leases (Continued) 
In evaluating contracts to determine if they qualify as a lease, NWILCS considers factors 
such as if NWILCS has obtained substantially all of the rights to the underlying asset 
through exclusivity, if NWILCS can direct the use of the asset by making decisions about 
how and for what purpose the asset will be used and if the lessor has substantive 
substitution rights. This evaluation may require significant judgement.  
 
Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications of amounts previous reported have been made to the 
accompanying financial statement to maintain consistency between periods presented. The 
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net assets. 
 
Subsequent Events 
NWILCS evaluated subsequent events through January 24, 2025, the date these financial 
statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have been 
evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related disclosures 
would be required. 
 
 

NOTE 2 RESTRICTED CASH 

Cash 
Restricted for bond interest is reserved for the payment of interest on the bond semi-
annually. Funds are placed in the account monthly to cover one-sixth of the semi-annual 
interest payment. 
 
Restricted for debt service is reserved for the payment of principal and interest on the bond 
in the event that other funding is unavailable to meet payment requirements. 
 
Restricted for property repairs and replacement was established with the bond proceeds 
and represents resources available for repairing and replacing facilities. 
 
 

NOTE 3 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment were comprised of the following as of June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Land 1,245,200$      1,245,200$      
Buildings and Improvements 18,712,042      17,908,695      
Furniture and Equipment 703,832           526,222           
Construction in Progress 342,115 55,235

Subtotal 21,003,189      19,735,352      
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (5,054,991)       (4,322,304)       

Total 15,948,198$    15,413,048$     
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NOTE 4 BONDS PAYABLE 

NWILCS purchased its facilities with Indiana Finance Authority Educational Facilities 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 with original amounts totaling $19,950,000. Principal is 
payable in annual installments that increase from $280,000 to $1,575,000, beginning in 
December 2018 and maturing in December 2044. Interest payments are made semi-
annually at rates ranging from 6.25% to 7.25% in accordance with the bond agreements. 
The bonds are secured by land, buildings, and improvements. 
 
The Indiana Finance Authority Educational Facilities Revenue Bond agreements contain 
certain covenants requiring: 
 

• submission of audited financial statements within 150 days after the end of the fiscal 
year or, if audited, financial statements are not available at that time, unaudited 
financial statements, and audited financial statements within 10 business days after 
availability; 
 

• a minimum 45 day cash on hand as of June 30, 2019 and each annual reporting 
period thereafter (35 days cash on hand as of June 30, 2018); and 
 

• meeting a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.15 to 1.00, measured annually. 
 
NWILCS was in compliance with the debt service coverage ratio covenants as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Principal maturities of bonds payable are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 335,000$         
2026 425,000           
2027 455,000           
2028 485,000           
2029 520,000           

Thereafter 15,763,333      
Total 17,983,333$     
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NOTE 5 LEASES 

NWILCS leases various equipment and facilities from third parties under a long-term, 
noncancelable lease agreement. The leases expire at various times through 2029. In the 
normal course of business, it is expected that this lease will be renewed or replaced by 
similar leases. Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 
was $307,367 and $605,233 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
Lease expense associated with all third-party leases was $224,314 and $243,060 for the 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Operating Lease Cost 224,314$         243,060$         

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 221,683$         240,420$         
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 3.5 Years 3.1 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 4.19 % 3.53 %  

 
A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, is as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Operating
2025 188,163$         
2026 152,423           
2027 51,293             
2028 51,293             
2029 51,293             

Undiscounted Cash Flows 494,465           
(Less) Imputed Interest (29,740)            

Total Present Value 464,726$         

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 175,001$         
Long-Term Lease Liabilities 289,725           

Total 464,726$          
 
 

NOTE 6 RETIREMENT PLAN 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, all NWILCS personnel were employees of Lighthouse 
Academies, Inc., which provides management services to the School. NWILCS personnel 
are eligible to participate in the Lighthouse Academies, Inc. Section 401(k) retirement plan. 
Under the plan, NWILCS matches 100% of employee contributions up to 4% of 
compensation for the plan year. Additional contributions may be made to the plan at the 
discretion of the School Board of Directors. No discretionary contributions were made during 
the years ended June 30, 2023. Retirement plan expense was $98,685 for the years ended 
June 30, 2023. 
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NOTE 6 RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the Corporation maintains a Section 403(b) retirement 
plan. Employees may contribute up to 100% of their compensation provided they are at 
least 21 years of age and have at least 30 days of employment. Under the Plan, the 
Corporation matches up to 4% of each participant’s contributions for the plan year 
 
Retirement plan expense was $198,225 for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
 

NOTE 7 COMMITMENTS 

The School has contracted with Lighthouse Academies, Inc. to provide management, 
administrative, and educational programming services for each of its schools. Under the 
terms of the agreements, The School has agreed to pay an amount equal to 7.5% of 
revenue, as defined, for such services, plus any necessary travel costs. This agreement was 
terminated during the year ended June 30, 2023. Expense under the agreement for both 
academic oversight and travel costs was $125,179 for the year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
The School’s two schools operate under charters granted by Ball State University. As the 
sponsoring organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. 
Under the charters, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual 
administrative fee equal to 3% of state tuition support received associated with its two 
schools. Total expense under the charter agreements was $244,036 and $266,246 for the 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 8 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

NWILCS provides education services to families residing in Lake and surrounding counties 
of Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive forces at work within this 
geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect NWILCS. Additionally, NWILCS is subject to monitoring and audit by state and federal 
agencies. These examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject NWILCS to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, substantially 
all receivable balances were due from the state of Indiana.  
 
NWILCS primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at various 
financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may exceed insured 
limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, NWILCS has not experienced losses in any 
of these accounts. 
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NOTE 9 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, the NWILCS is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. The NWILCS’s financial assets include cash, 
restricted cash, grants receivable, and other receivables. 
 

2024 2023
Financial Assets 19,718,191$    15,501,988$    
Less: Those Unavailable for General Expenditures
  Within One Year, Due to:

Restricted Cash for Use in Payment of Bond Interest,
  Debt Service, and Property Repairs and Replacement (2,615,653)       (2,455,799)       

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs
  for General Expenditures Within One Year 17,102,538$    13,046,189$     

 
From time to time, NWILCS receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, 
NWILCS must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. 
Thus, financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part 
of NWILCS’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be 
available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 
 
 

NOTE 10 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of NWILCS has 
categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to the 
underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions between 
these categories was required. 
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East

Gary Chicago Eliminations Total
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 2,327,561$      5,918,778$      -$                     8,246,339$      
Cash - Restricted for Bond Interest 320,096           80,024             -                       400,120           
Accounts Receivable:

Grants 6,675,326        2,114,723        -                       8,790,049        
Related Party Accounts Receivable 1,518,445        -                       (1,518,445)       -                       
Other Receivables 46,224             19,926             -                       66,150             

Prepaid Expenses 48,051             4,050               -                       52,101             
Total Current Assets 10,935,703      8,137,501        (1,518,445)       17,554,759      

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 12,565,362      3,382,836        -                       15,948,198      

OTHER ASSETS
Cash - Restricted for Debt Service 1,345,944        336,486           -                       1,682,430        
Cash - Restricted for Property Repairs
  and Replacement 405,819           127,284           -                       533,103           
Right-of-Use Asset, Net 413,257           51,469             -                       464,726           

Total Other Assets 2,165,020        515,239           -                       2,680,259        

Total Assets 25,666,085$    12,035,576$    (1,518,445)$     36,183,216$    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Bonds Payable 268,000$         67,000$           -$                     335,000$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 1,097,210        247,833           1,345,043        
Accounts Payable Related Party -                       1,518,445        (1,518,445)       -                       
Right-of-Use Liability, Current 145,404           29,597             -                       175,001           

Total Current Liabilities 1,510,614        1,862,875        (1,518,445)       1,855,044        

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Right of Use Liability, Noncurrent 267,853           21,872             -                       289,725           
Bonds Payable 14,208,665      3,439,667        -                       17,648,332      
Less: Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (151,995)          (36,930)            -                       (188,925)          

Total Long-Term Liabilities, Net of 
  Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 14,056,670      3,402,737        -                       17,459,407      

Total Liabilities 15,835,137      5,287,484        (1,518,445)       19,604,176      

NET ASSETS, WITHOUT DONOR
  RESTRICTIONS 9,830,948        6,748,092        -                       16,579,040      

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 25,666,085$    12,035,576$    (1,518,445)$     36,183,216$    
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East

Gary Chicago Eliminations Total
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 3,256,150$      3,761,114$      -$                     7,017,264$      
Cash - Restricted for Bond Interest 316,835           79,209             -                       396,044           
Accounts Receivable:

Grants 3,911,786        2,067,913        -                       5,979,699        
Related Party Accounts Receivable 531,619           680,328           (1,211,947)       -                       
Other Receivables 29,300             19,926             -                       49,226             

Prepaid Expenses 191,722           97,891             -                       289,613           
Total Current Assets 8,237,412        6,706,381        (1,211,947)       13,731,846      

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 12,393,471      3,019,577        -                       15,413,048      

OTHER ASSETS
Cash - Restricted for Debt Service 1,351,430        337,858           -                       1,689,288        
Cash - Restricted for Property Repairs
  and Replacement 277,184           93,283             -                       370,467           
Right-of-Use Asset, Net 308,270           68,469             376,739           

Total Other Assets 1,936,884        499,610           -                       2,436,494        

Total Assets 22,567,767$    10,225,568$    (1,211,947)$     31,581,388$    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Bonds Payable 300,000$         75,000$           -$                     375,000$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 698,555           1,183,292        -                       1,881,847        
Accounts Payable Related Party 680,328           531,619           (1,211,947)       -                       
Right-of-Use Liability, Current 136,776           32,542             -                       169,318           

Total Current Liabilities 1,815,659        1,822,453        (1,211,947)       2,426,165        

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Right-of-Use Liability, Noncurrent 171,494           35,927             -                       207,421           
Bonds Payable 14,476,665      3,506,667        -                       17,983,332      
Less: Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (159,410)          (38,731)            -                       (198,141)          

Total Long-Term Liabilities, Net of
  Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 14,488,749      3,503,863        -                       17,992,612      

Total Liabilities 16,304,408      5,326,316        (1,211,947)       20,418,777      

NET ASSETS, WITHOUT DONOR
  RESTRICTIONS 6,263,359        4,899,252        -                       11,162,611      

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 22,567,767$    10,225,568$    (1,211,947)$     31,581,388$    
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East

Gary Chicago Eliminations Total
REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 10,687,412$    4,460,448$      -$                     15,147,860$    
Grant Revenue 11,667,738      4,124,011        -                       15,791,749      
Student Fees 42,829             39,172             -                       82,001             
Contributions 504                  250                  -                       754                  
Interest 113,126           36,333             -                       149,459           
Other 55,189             35,645             -                       90,834             

Total Revenue and Support 22,566,798      8,695,859        -                       31,262,657      

EXPENSES
Program Services 16,247,461      6,064,554        -                       22,312,015      
Management and General 2,751,748        782,465           -                       3,534,213        

Total Expenses 18,999,209      6,847,019        -                       25,846,228      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 3,567,589        1,848,840        -                       5,416,429        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 6,263,359        4,899,252        -                       11,162,611      

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 9,830,948$      6,748,092$      -$                     16,579,040$    
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East

Gary Chicago Eliminations Total
REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 9,998,582$      3,950,614$      -$                     13,949,196$    
Grant Revenue 12,964,217      4,803,434        -                       17,767,651      
Student Fees 73,899             22,673             -                       96,572             
Contributions 21,838             1,234               -                       23,072             
Interest 68,800             17,783             -                       86,583             
Other 9,821               8,126               -                       17,947             

Total Revenue and Support 23,137,157      8,803,864        -                       31,941,021      

EXPENSES
Program Services 17,118,411      6,339,418        -                       23,457,829      
Management and General 2,725,512        810,587           -                       3,536,099        

Total Expenses 19,843,923      7,150,005        -                       26,993,928      

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 3,293,234        1,653,859        -                       4,947,093        

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 2,970,125        3,245,393        -                       6,215,518        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 6,263,359$      4,899,252$      -$                     11,162,611$    
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether NWILCS’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
NWILCS’s Response to Findings 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the NWILCS’s 
response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. NWILCS’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.  
 
Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 24, 2025 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on NWILCS’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about NWILCS’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding NWILCS’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of NWILCS’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of NWILCS’s internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Other Matters 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to be 
reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which are described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2024-003 and 2024-004. Our opinion on each 
major federal program is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on NWILCS’ 
response to the noncompliance findings identified in our compliance audit described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. NWILCS’ response was not subjected to the 
other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion 
on the response. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we did identify certain 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. We consider the deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2024-
004 to be a material weakness and 2024-003 to be a significant deficiency. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on NWILCS’ 
response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. NWILCS’ response was not subjected to the 
other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion 
on the response. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
January 24, 2025 
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Federal Pass-Through Total

Assistance Entity Passed Federal
Federal Grantor Agency/Pass-Through Entity/ Listing Identifying Through to Awards
  Cluster Title/Program Title/Project Title Number Number Subrecipients Expended

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Pass-Through Indiana Department of Education:

Child Nutrition Cluster:
School Breakfast Lunch Program 10.553 N/A -$                        351,137$            
National School Lunch Program 10.555 N/A -                          786,923              

Total Child Nutrition Cluster -                          1,138,060           

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture -                          1,138,060           

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Pass-Through Indiana Department of Education:

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 S010A220014,  
S010A230014, 
S010A240014 -                          2,955,509           

Special Education Cluster:
Special Education - Grants to States 84.027 H027A220084, 

H027A230084, 
H027A240084 -                          475,857              

Special Education ARP 84.173 H173A220104, 
H173A220104, 
H173A230104  -                          11,480                

Total for Special Education Cluster -                          487,337              

English Language Acquisition State Grants 84.365 S365A230014, 
S365A240014 -                          22,607                

Supporting Effective Instruction to State Grants 84.367 S367A210013, 
S367A220013, 
S367A230013 -                          316,853              

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants 84.424 S424A210015, 
S424A220015, 
S424A230015 -                          248,927              

Education Stabilization Fund Program:
COVID-19 ESSER Formula Fund II 84.425D S425D210013 -                          1,805,477           
COVID-19 ESSER Formula Fund III 84.425U S425D210013 -                          6,143,986           
COVID-19 ESSER Formula Fund III McKenny Vento 84.425W S425W210015 -                          21,902                

Total Education Stabilization Fund Program -                          7,971,365           

Total U.S. Department of Education -                          12,002,598         

Total Federal Awards Expended -$                        13,140,658$       
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NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal award activity of Northwest Indiana Lighthouse Charter Schools (NWILCS) under 
programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2024. The information in 
this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule 
presents only a selected portion of the operations of NWILCS, it is not intended to and does 
not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of NWILCS. 
 
 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance for all awards. Under these principles, certain types of expenditures are not 
allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule 
represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to amounts 
reported as expenditures in prior years. 
 
 

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE 

NWILCS has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under 
the Uniform Guidance. 
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Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results 

 
Financial Statements 
 

1. Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified 
 

2. Internal control over financial reporting: 
 

• Material weakness(es) identified?         x  yes           no 
 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?           yes         x none reported 
 

3. Noncompliance material to financial  
statements noted?           yes         x  no 

 
 
Federal Awards 
 

1. Internal control over major federal programs: 
 

• Material weakness(es) identified?         x  yes           no 
 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?         x  yes          none reported 
 

2. Type of auditors’ report issued on  
compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified 

 
3. Any audit findings disclosed that are required 

to be reported in accordance with  
2 CFR 200.516(a)?          x  yes           no 

 
 
Identification of Major Federal Programs 
 
Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
 
 84.425 Education Stabilization Fund Program 
 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: $   750,000  
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?            yes         x  no 
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Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

 
2024 – 001: Audit Adjustments 
 
Type of Finding: 
 

• Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
Condition: The board and management share the ultimate responsibility for NWILCS’s internal control 
system. While it is acceptable to outsource various accounting functions, the responsibility for internal 
control cannot be outsourced. Various significant audit adjustments were proposed and posted through 
the audit process. The adjustments were a necessary step in ensuring the financial statements were 
fairly stated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 
Criteria or specific requirement: In an ideal control setting, NWILCS would have a comprehensive 
control procedure to ensure that the financial statements, including disclosures are complete and 
accurate. Such review procedures should be performed by an individual possessing a thorough 
understanding of applicable U.S. GAPP. 
 
Context: While performing audit procedures, it was noted that management did not have appropriate 
procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance that financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 
Effect: It is possible that a misstatement of the NWILCS' financial statements could occur and not be 
prevented or detected by the NWILCS' internal control. 
 
Cause: NWILCS’ controls were not able to detect the adjustments made as part of the audit. NWILCS 
does not have a comprehensive review process to ensure that the financial statements, including 
disclosures, are complete and accurate. 
 
Repeat finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that management review controls related to financial statement 
preparation review at the end of each period. Financial statement preparation should include a review 
of reconciliations and balances to ensure that financial statement line items are properly stated and 
classified. Internally prepared financial statements should also be reviewed by members of 
management outside the finance department on a periodic (monthly or quarterly). 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: There is no disagreement with the 
audit finding. 
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Section II – Financial Statement Findings (Continued) 

 
2024 – 002: Interfund Activity 
 
Type of Finding: 
 

• Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
Condition: The board and management share the ultimate responsibility for NWILCS’s internal control 
system. While it is acceptable to outsource various accounting functions, the responsibility for internal 
control cannot be outsourced. Interfund activity for Gary and East Chicago had not been reviewed on a 
stand-alone basis to ensure the activity was properly reflected in each school. 
 
Criteria or specific requirement: In an ideal control setting, NWILCS would have a comprehensive 
control procedure to ensure that the financial statements are complete and accurate. Such review 
procedures should be performed by an individual possessing a thorough understanding of applicable 
U.S. GAAP and NWILCS’ operations. 
 
Context: While performing audit procedures, it was noted that management did not have appropriate 
procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance that interfund activity is reasonable based upon 
operations of NWILCS. 
 
Effect: It is possible that a misstatement of the NWILCS' financial statements could occur and not be 
prevented or detected by the NWILCS' internal control. 
 
Cause: NWILCS’ controls were not able to detect the adjustments made as part of the audit. NWILCS 
does not have a comprehensive review process to ensure that the stand alone financial statements for 
both Gary and East Chicago are complete and accurate. 
 
Repeat finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that management review controls related to interfund activity on a 
regular basis (monthly or quarterly) to ensure that total activity accurately reflects both Gary and East 
Chicago on a standalone basis and is reasonable. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: There is no disagreement with the 
audit finding. 
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Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs 

 
2024 – 003: Allowable Costs 
 
Federal Agency: U.S. Department Education 
Federal Program Name: Education Stabilization Fund 
Assistance Listing Number: 84.425 
Pass-Through Agency: Indiana Department of Education 
Pass-Through Numbers: S425D210013, S425D210013, S425W210015 
Award Period: July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 
Type of Finding:  
 

• Significant Deficiency in Internal Control Over Compliance 
• Other Matters 

 
Criteria or specific requirement: The Compliance Supplement requires that compensation for 
personal services be charged to the federal grant based upon approved actual time worked on the 
program and not based on an allocation or budget (2 CFR 200.430(i)).  
 
Condition: While performing audit procedures, it was noted that payroll expenses were charged to the 
grant program but were not supported with time and effort documentation and was for an employee 
bonus. 
 
Questioned costs: $6,631 
 
Context: During the process of obtaining an understanding of internal controls and processing of 
payroll expenditures, we noted payroll charge to the grant did not have time and effort documentation 
for amounts charged to the grant and included a bonus employee charged to the grant inaccurately. 
 
Cause: Salary figures for salaried employees were charged to the federal grant based on unsupported 
work actually performed for the program and inaccurate payroll costs were charged to the grant for an 
employee bonus. 
 
Effect: NWILCS has not fully followed compliance attributes with the allowable costs principles set forth 
by the Compliance Supplement related to allocation of salaries being charged based on approved time 
worked for a program. Personnel need to reinforce policies to ensure control procedures are in place to 
ensure salaries charged to a grant are appropriately based on actual approved time worked in a 
program. 
 
Repeat finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend NWILCS ensure policies and procedures for payroll expenditures 
for grant programs be charged to the federal grant based on approved hours worked in the program.  
 
Views of responsible officials: There is no disagreement with the audit finding. 
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Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs (Continued) 

 
2024 – 004: Reporting 
 
Federal Agency: U.S. Department Education 
Federal Program Name: Education Stabilization Fund 
Assistance Listing Number: 84.425 
Pass-Through Agency: Indiana Department of Education 
Pass-Through Numbers: S425D210013, S425D210013, S425W210015 
Award Period: July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 
Type of Finding:  
 

• Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Compliance 
• Other Matters 

 
Criteria or specific requirement: Grantees must submit an annual performance report with data on 
expenditures, planned expenditures, subrecipients, and uses of funds, including for mandatory 
reservations. Amounts reports must be supported by the unit's records. Per 2 CFR 200.303, The non-
Federal entity must: (a) Establish and maintain effective internal control over the federal award in 
compliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the Federal award. 
These internal controls should be in compliance with guidance in 'Standards for Internal Control in the 
Federal Government' issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of the 'Internal Control 
Integrated Framework', issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO).  
 
Condition: While performing audit procedures, it was noted that NWILCS did not file the required 
annual report that was due during the audit period. 
 
Questioned costs: None. 
 
Context: During audit testing, it was noted that the annual reporting was not completed by NWILCS as 
required during the audit period. 
 
Cause: The reporting requirement was missed due to management’s oversight. 
 
Effect: NWILCS has not fully followed compliance attributes with the reporting requirements set forth 
by the Compliance Supplement. Personnel need to reinforce policies to ensure control procedures are 
in place to ensure all required grant compliance items are reviewed, approved, and completed in 
accordance with grant requirements.  
 
Repeat finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that NWILCS implement procedures and controls to ensure the 
required reports are accurate and completed timely. 
 
Views of responsible officials: There is no disagreement with the audit finding. 
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AVERAGE DAILY MEMBERSHIP (ADM) TESTING 
Enrollment documents are required to be maintained by the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE) 
for each student. In addition, NWILCS has adopted a policy requiring additional documents to be 
obtained at enrollment. The process used did not result in maintaining consistent and complete 
enrollment records for four (4) students (1 fall, 3 spring) of the 60 tested for enrollment at East Chicago 
Lighthouse Charter School (ECLCS) and four (4) students (4 spring) of the 60 tested for enrollment at 
Gary Lighthouse Charter School (GLCS). The students at ECLCS and GLCS were missing the proof of 
residency documentation, enrollment packet documentation, and/or birth certificate as required by the 
School’s policy. 
 
Records such as paper or electronic enrollment applications, as well as copies of birth certificates and 
proof of residency, etc. as determined by policy or normal practice by the school should be maintained 
(Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana Charter Schools, Part 9). 
 
Officials shall maintain records (enrollment applications, attendance records, reporting forms, etc.) 
which substantiate the number of students claimed for ADM. A student claimed for ADM must be an 
“eligible pupil”. An eligible pupil is a student that is enrolled and attending. IC 20-43-1-11.5 defines 
“Enrolled” as registered with a school corporation to attend educational programs offered by or through 
the school corporation; and attending these educational programs or receiving education services. IC 
20-43-1-7.5 defines “Attending” as physical or virtual presence of a student with the expectation of 
continued services in the education programs for which the student is registered.  
 
 
TRAVEL – MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 
During our testing of the travel vouchers, we discovered 1 of the 1 mileage reimbursement tested for 
ECLCS and 1 of the 1 mileage reimbursement tested for GLCS had incorrect mileage rates being used 
in the calculation for reimbursement. The 2022 rate was used to calculate reimbursements from 2023 
and 2024. NWILCS policy is to follow the federal mileage rate. The amount of $13.89 should have been 
reimbursed to employees for those tested.  
 
The charter school must establish a travel policy that details the procedures for an employee to get 
approval to attend meetings and conferences; must detail when an employee is in travel status; must 
detail the procedures for employees to get reimbursement for travel expenses; and the policy must 
establish a reasonable mileage reimbursement rate. (Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools 
Performed by Private Examiners) 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
NWILCS was unable to provide records showing a complete inventory was taken within the last two 
years as required. 
 
Every charter school must have a complete inventory of all capital assets owned which reflects their 
acquisition value. Such inventory must be recorded on the applicable Capital Asset Ledger. A complete 
inventory shall be taken for good internal control and for verifying account balances carried in the 
accounting records. (Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for Indiana Charter 
Schools, Part 15) 
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The contents of this report were discussed on December 27, 2024 with Jessica Beasley 
(Superintendent), Latrice Franklin (Deputy Director of People and School Administration), and David 
Sevier (Director of Finance). Official response has been made part of this report and may be found 
starting on page 5. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Northern Rush County 
Schools, Incorporated dba: Mays Community Academy’s ability to continue as a going concern for one 
year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they would 
influence the judgement made by reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

 Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Northern Rush County Schools, Incorporated dba: Mays 
Community Academy’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Northern Rush County Schools, Incorporated dba: 
Mays Community Academy’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 
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Report on Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The supplementary information is presented for the purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
December 28, 2024
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 87,820$          63,067$          
Grants Receivable 11,280            38,590            

Total Current Assets 99,100            101,657          

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land 88,400            88,400            
Buildings and Improvements 783,331          783,331          
Furniture and Equipment 296,829          296,829          
Software and Textbooks 90,082            90,082            
Vehicles 5,000              5,000              
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (510,139)         (459,648)         

Property and Equipment, Net 753,503          803,994          

OTHER ASSETS

Security Deposit 3,900              3,900              

Total Assets 856,503$        909,551$        

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current Portion of Notes Payable 246,635$        94,957$          
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 79,886            98,528            

Total Current Liabilities 326,521          193,485          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion 197,974          359,948          

Total Liabilities 524,495          553,433          

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 332,008          356,118          

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 856,503$        909,551$        
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See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 1,105,637$     1,151,516$     
Grant Revenue 561,681          782,923          
Student Fees 118,037          72,933            
Contributions 1,273              682                 
Fundraising and Other Income 38,817            46,299            

Total Revenue and Support 1,825,445       2,054,353       

EXPENSES

Program Services 1,368,858       1,588,724       
Management and General 480,697          546,860          

Total Expenses 1,849,555       2,135,584       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (24,110)           (81,231)           

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 356,118          437,349          

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 332,008$        356,118$        
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STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
(6)

Program Management Program Management

Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 707,458$      223,225$      930,683$      832,063$      269,774$      1,101,837$   
Employee Benefits 173,753        21,769          195,522        197,551        27,427          224,978        
Staff Development 2,597            -                    2,597            3,481            -                    3,481            
Professional Services 88,228          114,895        203,123        88,470          134,601        223,071        
Repairs and Maintenance -                    16,540          16,540          -                    30,698          30,698          
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                    26,171          26,171          -                    26,628          26,628          
Food Costs 55,725          -                    55,725          57,966          -                    57,966          
Transportation 152,996        -                    152,996        166,217        -                    166,217        
Information Technology 2,126            -                    2,126            3,040            -                    3,040            
Advertising -                    368               368               -                    8                   8                   
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 39,555          12,412          51,967          55,922          6,585            62,507          
Occupancy 42,598          -                    42,598          52,492          -                    52,492          
Depreciation 50,491          -                    50,491          54,456          -                    54,456          
Interest -                    57,466          57,466          -                    43,705          43,705          
Insurance 52,359          -                    52,359          76,276          -                    76,276          
Other 972               7,851            8,823            790               7,434            8,224            

Total Functional Expenses 1,368,858$   480,697$      1,849,555$   1,588,724$   546,860$      2,135,584$   

2024 2023



NORTHERN RUSH COUNTY SCHOOLS, INCORPORATED
DBA: MAYS COMMUNITY ACADEMY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets (24,110)$         (81,231)$         
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 50,491            54,456            
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Grants Receivable 27,310            204,152          
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (18,642)           (37,874)           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 35,049            139,503          

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from Notes Payable 960,400          83,376            
Repayment of Notes Payable (970,696)         (306,846)         

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (10,296)           (223,470)         

NET CHANGE IN CASH 24,753            (83,967)           

Cash - Beginning of Year 63,067            147,034          

CASH - END OF YEAR 87,820$          63,067$          

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash Paid for Interest 57,466$          43,705$          
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

Northern Rush County Schools, Incorporated dba: Mays Community Academy (the School) 
is a public benefit nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. 
The School is sponsored by Ball State University and operates a public charter school 
established under Indiana Code 20-24. The School served approximately 120 and 150
students during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, in grades 
kindergarten through eight.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic School year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which the educational 
services are rendered.

A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024
and 2023, the School does not have any conditional grants that have not been recognized 
as revenue in the statement of activities because conditions have not been met.

Revenue from student fees, fundraising, and other income is recognized when the control of 
the promised good or service is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Amounts 
received prior to the service is performed is reported as deferred revenue in the statement of 
financial position. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School did not have any such deferred 
revenue.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Contributions and Grants

The School receives income from contributions and grants that support certain school 
activities. Such revenue received and unconditional promises to give are measured at their 
fair value and are reported as an increase in net assets. The School reports gifts of cash 
and other assets and grants as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations 
that limit the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for future 
periods. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purposes restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to 
net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities and change 
in net assets as net assets released from restriction. The School did not have any net assets 
with donor restrictions as of June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Cash

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts. There were no cash equivalents at June 30, 
2024 and 2023.

Grants Receivable

Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal programs. The School 
believes that it is operating in compliance with regulatory requirements and as such no 
allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed necessary.

Property and Equipment

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $5,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows:

Buildings and Improvements 7 to 40 Years
Furniture and Equipment 5 to 10 Years
Software and Textbooks 3 to 5 Years
Vehicles 10 Years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxes on Income

Northern Rush County Schools, Incorporated has received a determination from the U.S. 
Internal Revenue Service stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be 
subject to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, no accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be 
included in the accompanying financial statements.

Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more-likely-than-not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. Tax years ending after 2019 are open to audit for both federal 
and state purposes.

Leases

The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability - financing in 
the balance sheet.

ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet.

The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities.

The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component.



NORTHERN RUSH COUNTY SCHOOLS, INCORPORATED
DBA: MAYS COMMUNITY ACADEMY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023

(11)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in 2023 have been reclassified for comparative purposes to conform with
the presentation in 2024. The reclassifications have no effect on the previously stated net
income or equity.

Subsequent Events

The School evaluated subsequent events through December 28, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required.

Going Concern Considerations

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the School will 
continue as a going concern. For the year ended June 30, 2024, the School saw a 
significant decrease in enrollment, resulting in a decrease of state education support of 
approximately $46,000, requiring the School to have continued reliance on financing 
sources. Subsequent enrollment for the Fall 2024 semester enrollment at only 101 enrolled 
students. The School continues to have more current liabilities than current assets and 
experienced a decrease in net assets for the year ended June 30, 2024. If this trend 
continues, these factors could threaten the School’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Going Concern Considerations (Continued)

The School's management is aware of the challenging financial situation and has 
implemented several measures to improve its finances. To manage costs for the 2024-2025 
school year, management has streamlined our staff to match the number of students 
served. A standalone administrative role has been eliminated, with the responsibilities of this 
role now divided among three other roles in the administrative structure, resulting in savings 
of $60,000. Additionally, the School is not participating in certain grants that it has previously 
engaged in, due to a reduction in funding from the state, which has increased our share of 
funds required to maintain the program at previous levels, resulting in savings $20,000
annually. Management has also analyzed the costs associated with group health insurance 
benefits for employees. Due to the small number of participants in the group health plan, the 
cost to employees compared to the benefits was considered too high for employees to 
continue with the program. Insurance costs for the group were rising significantly, and many 
of the School’s employees found that they could receive cheaper benefits through their 
spouses' plans than through the School’s group health policy. Consequently, management 
decided to eliminate the group health plan, saving over $120,000 per year. Management 
also reviewed the School’s vendor contracts and chose to eliminate a monthly service 
contract for technology services. The School now has an employee capable of handling 
general IT issues and will only engage the outside vendor for major problems as they arise, 
resulting in savings around $43,000 annually. Total expected savings from these decisions 
is approximately $243,000 or 13% of total expenses for the year ended June 30, 2024.

While we have observed a decrease in enrollment trends, we are actively seeking new 
families from our community and those relocating to work at a new factory in our area. We 
are collaborating with individuals, the local chamber of commerce, and a service provider to 
enhance our professional marketing and recruitment processes.
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NOTE 2 NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable were comprised of the following at June 30:

Description 2024 2023

Note payable to Charter School Capital, due monthly
based upon timing and receipts of state basic aid
funding 160,000$        82,400$          

Note payable (resulting from refinance of previous loan
and lines of credit in October 2022) to FCN Bank with
monthly installments of $7,057 including interest at 6.5% 
annum, maturing in October 2027. 243,758          315,312          

Note payable to Indiana State Board of Education, 
payable $21,250 semi-annually (January 1 and July 1) 
plus interest at 1.00% per annum, maturing in July 2026. 40,851            57,193            

Total 444,609          454,905          

Less: Current Portion (246,635)         (94,957)           

Long-Term Portion 197,974$        359,948$        

Principal maturities of notes payable are as follows for the years ending June 30:

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 246,635$        
2026 91,343            
2027 88,195            
2028 18,436            

Total 444,609$        

NOTE 3 LINES OF CREDIT

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the School entered into two line of credit 
arrangements with FCN Bank. The first line of credit has a $300,000 borrowing capacity and 
incurred interest at 6.5% per annum, maturing October 2019. This was extended to
October 2022 with an interest rate of 5%. The second line of credit has a $120,000 
borrowing capacity and incurred interest at 6.5% per annum, maturing August 2019. This 
was extended to October 2022 with an interest rate of 4.5%. The balance of the lines of 
credit as of June 30, 2023 was $410,000, but was refinance in October 2022 to the term 
note payable as described in Note 2.
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NOTE 4 RETIREMENT PLANS

The School provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ Retirement Fund (TRF) 
and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of which are cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the state of Indiana and 
administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. 

Contribution requirements of plan members are determined annually by the INPRS Board. 
For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School contributed 5.5% of compensation 
for eligible teaching personnel to TRF and 11.2% for other employees to PERF. Should the 
School elect to withdraw from TRF or PERF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. The 
School’s contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total contributions 
received by TRF and PERF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF 
were approximately 93% and 85% funded, respectively. The School’s total retirement 
expense was $29,889 and $32,169 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.

NOTE 5 COMMITMENTS

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support. Payments under this charter agreement were $26,171
and $26,628 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The charter remains 
in effect until June 30, 2024 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. During the year 
ended June 30, 2023, the charter was amended to extend the term for one year through 
June 30, 2024. During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School withdrew the charter 
renewal application with Ball State University thus the current charter ended June 30, 2024 
as the School is working with Ball State University for a new charter authorizer. In May 2024, 
the School signed with a new charter authorizer Grace College. As the sponsoring 
organization, Grace College exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this charter, 
the School has agreed to pay Grace College an annual administrative fee equal to 3% of 
state tuition support. No payments were made under this charter during the year ended 
June 20, 2024. The charter term is for fifteen (15) years.

The School contracted with Indiana Charters LLC, a for-profit organization incorporated in 
the state of Indiana, to perform data management, financial, administrative, and general 
operational support services. Expenses under this contract were $100,300 and $111,462 for 
the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 6 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Rush and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area.
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NOTE 6 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Any changes in state or federal legislation could 
significantly impact the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by 
state and federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be 
imposed on the School.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2021, substantially all 
of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. In addition, bank deposits are 
maintained primarily at FCN Bank, and are insured up to the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) limit.

NOTE 7 LIQUIDITY

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statement of financial position. Financial assets for the School include cash 
and grants receivable which total $99,100 and $101,657 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.

NOTE 8 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories is required.

NOTE 9 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The School contracts with a transportation company that is owned by the husband of the 
Board Treasurer. The School uses the transportation company for busing services and also 
employs two relatives of the Board Treasurer. Expenses under this relationship during the 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $152,996 and $186,274, respectively, for 
transportation.
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
School as listed below:

Supplemental Audit Report of Northern Rush County Schools, Incorporated
dba: Mays Community Academy

The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.
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Mays

Mays Community 

Community Academy

Academy Pre-K Eliminations Total 

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 56,995$       30,825$      -$                 87,820$       

Grants Receivable 11,280         -                  -                   11,280         

Due from Academy -                   237,984      (237,984)      -                   

Total Current Assets 68,275         268,809      (237,984)      99,100         

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 88,400         -                  -                   88,400         

Buildings and Improvements 783,331       -                  -                   783,331       

Furniture and Equipment 296,829       -                  -                   296,829       

Software and Textbooks 90,082         -                  -                   90,082         

Vehicles 5,000           -                  -                   5,000           

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (510,139)      -                  -                   (510,139)      

Property and Equipment, Net 753,503       -                  -                   753,503       

OTHER ASSETS
Security Deposit 3,900           -                  -                   3,900           

Total Assets 825,678$     268,809$    (237,984)$    856,503$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable 246,635$     -$                -$                 246,635$     

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 76,728         3,158          -                   79,886         

Due to Pre-K 237,984       -                  (237,984)      -                   

Total Current Liabilities 561,347       3,158          (237,984)      326,521       

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion 197,974       -                  -                   197,974       

Total Liabilities 759,321       3,158          (237,984)      524,495       

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Undesignated 66,357         265,651      -                   332,008       

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 825,678$     268,809$    (237,984)$    856,503$     
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Mays
Mays Community 

Community Academy

Academy Pre-K Total 

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 1,105,637$     -$                    1,105,637$     

Grant Revenue 561,281          400                 561,681          

Student Fees 4,217              113,820          118,037          
Contributions 1,273              -                      1,273              
Fundraising and Other Income 38,817            -                      38,817            

Total Revenue and Support 1,711,225       114,220          1,825,445       

EXPENSES

Program Services 1,329,400       39,458            1,368,858       
Management and General 480,697          -                      480,697          

Total Expenses 1,810,097       39,458            1,849,555       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (98,872)           74,762            (24,110)           

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 165,229          190,889          356,118          

NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR 66,357$          265,651$        332,008$        
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Office Official Term

Board President Nansi Custer 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024

Board Treasurer Marcia Schwering 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024

School Leader Lauren Yoke 09/15/2023 – 06/30/2024
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No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024.
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The contents of this report were discussed with Nansi Custer, Board President, and Kevin Davis, 
Indiana Charters on December 19, 2024.
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RUSH COUNTY, INDIANA
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No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 that required an official response.





Neighbors' New Vistas High School 



Options Charter Schools  
(for Options Indiana, Options Noblesville, and Options Westfield) 

[to be added when completed]



Premier Arts Academy 









Board of Directors
Premier Arts Incorporated dba Premier Arts Academy

(2)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Premier Arts’ internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about Premier Arts’ ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit.
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Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 
supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of 
the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with GAAS. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
January 28, 2025
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ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 76,169$          
Investments 11,388            
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance for Credit Losses 31,030            
Grants Receivable 60,797            
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 4,500              

Total Current Assets 183,884          

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Equipment 450,875          
Furniture and Fixtures 121,507          
Leasehold Improvements 604,608          
Land Improvements 1,997              
Construction In Progress 272,626          
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (323,262)         

Property and Equipment, Net 1,128,351       

OTHER ASSETS
Right-of-Use Assets Operating, Net 218,777
Right-of-Use Assets Financing, Net 314,318          

Total Other Assets 533,095          

Total Assets 1,845,330$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 341,000$        
Accrued Liabilities 41,121
Notes Payable and Long-term Debt, Current Portion 345,184
Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Current Portion 133,800          
Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, Current Portion 88,162            

Total Current Liabilities 949,267          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Net of Current Portion 84,977            
Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, Net of Current Portion 226,156          

Total Long-Term Liabilities 311,133          

Total Liabilities 1,260,400       

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 584,930          

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,845,330$     
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REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 1,489,413$     
Grant Revenue 1,056,572       
Contributions 568,715          
Student Fees 56,867            
Program Services 192,616          
Investment Income 782                 
Fundraising and Special Events 2,541              

Total Revenue and Support 3,367,506       

EXPENSES

Program Services 2,347,103       
Management and General 867,328          

Total Expenses 3,214,431       

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 153,075          

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 431,855          

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 584,930$        
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Program Management
Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 1,099,855$     182,171$        1,282,026$     
Payroll Taxes and Fringe Benefits 206,595          66,057            272,652          
Professional Fees and Contract Services 117,545          48,227            165,772          
Supplies 290,549          80,726            371,275          
Professional Development 8,758              -                      8,758              
Occupancy 312,804 6,850              319,654          
Insurance -                      21,681            21,681            
Repairs and Maintenance 13,116            3,264              16,380            
Curricular Materials 126,964          -                      126,964          
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                      40,553            40,553            
Miscellaneous 25,886            15,344            41,230            
Utilities 1,358              62,010            63,368            
Depreciation and Amortization 5,492              250,794          256,286          
Interest Expense -                      71,035            71,035            
Food Service 90,320            -                      90,320            
Technology 47,861            18,616            66,477            

Total Functional Expenses 2,347,103$     867,328$        3,214,431$     
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Changes in Net Assets 153,075$        
Adjustments to Reconcile Changes in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 159,845          
Provision for Credit Losses 4,190              
Unrealized and Realized (Gain) on Investments (716)                

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable (35,220)           
Grants Receivable (60,797)           
Prepaid Expenses (4,500)             
Accrued Expenses 250,000          

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 465,877          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Sale of Investments 23                   
Purchases of Investments (743)                
Purchases of Property and Equipment (619,210)         

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (619,930)         

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings under LOC agreement 300,859          
Payments under LOC agreement (25,000)           
Proceeds from Notes Payable 100,000          
Principal Paid on Note Payable (170,675)         

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 205,184          

NET CHANGE IN CASH 51,131            

Cash - Beginning of Year 25,038            

CASH - END OF YEAR 76,169$          

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash Paid for Interest 71,035$          

Property and Equipment Additions Financed Through Accounts

  Payable and Accrued Expenses 127,065$        

Assets Acquired Through Lease Agreements 533,095$        
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

Premier Arts Incorporated dba Premier Arts Academy (Premier Arts) is a public benefit 
nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. Premier Arts
operates as a public charter school established under Indiana Code 20-24 serving 
approximately 190 students in grades kindergarten through sixth and is sponsored by Ball 
State University.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues primarily come from conditional resources provided under the Indiana Charter 
Schools Act. Under the Act, Premier Arts receives an amount per student in relation to the 
funding received by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the 
state of Indiana is based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through 
June coinciding with the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which 
the educational services are rendered.

A portion of Premier Arts’ revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
Premier Arts recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses 
at the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024, 
Premier Arts does not have any conditional grants that have not been recognized as 
revenue in the statement of activities and changes in net assets.

Premier Arts receives income from grants that support certain school activities. These
receipts are reported as restricted support in that they are received with stipulations that limit 
their use. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when the purpose or time restriction is 
accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported in the statements of activities and changes in net assets as net 
assets released from restrictions. There were no such restricted revenues during the period 
February 2, 2023 through June 30, 2024.

Premier Arts receives income from contributions and grants that support certain School 
activities. Such revenue received and unconditional promises to give are measured at their 
fair value and are reported as an increase in net assets. Premier Arts reports gifts of cash 
and other assets and grants as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations 
that limit the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for future 
periods. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purposes’ restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to 
net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities and changes
in net assets as net assets released from restriction. Premier Arts did not have any net 
assets with donor restrictions as of June 30, 2024.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from student fees and program services is recognized when the control of the 
promised good or service is transferred to the student and/or program participant, in an 
amount that reflects the consideration expected to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. Amounts received prior to the service being performed are reported as deferred 
revenue in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024, Premier Arts did not 
have any such deferred revenue.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents consists of short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents 
consist of a checking account and short-term investments.

Investments

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in
debt securities are reported at their fair values on the statements of financial position.
Unrealized gains and losses are included in the statement of activities and changes in net
assets. Investment income and gains and losses on investments are reported as increases
or decreases in unrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor
stipulations or by law. Premier Arts’ investments consist of a cash equivalent bank account 
held for investment and assets held by the Community Foundation of Elkhart County.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable relate primarily to student and program fees collected annually from 
Premier Arts’ students. Accounts receivable were $35,220 and $0 as of June 30, 2024 and 
February 2, 2023, respectively. These accounts receivable are reviewed for collectability 
annually. Premier Arts provides an allowance for credit losses, which is based upon a review 
of outstanding receivables, historical collection information, current economic conditions and 
certain forward-looking information. As of June 30, 2024, an allowance of $4,190 deemed 
necessary relating to student and program fees.

Grants Receivable

Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal grants and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. Premier Arts believes that it is operating in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed 
necessary. Premier Arts believes that all balances will be collected.

Property and Equipment

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $5,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows:

Equipment 7 to 40 Years
Furniture and Fixtures 5 to 7 Years
Leasehold Improvements 3 to 7 Years
Land Improvements 15 Years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

On an ongoing basis, Premier Arts reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. Premier Arts
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows.

Taxes on Income

Premier Arts has received a determination from the Treasury Department stating that it 
qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-
exempt organization; however, Premier Arts would be subject to tax on income unrelated to 
its tax-exempt purpose. For the tax period ended June 30, 2024, no accounting for federal 
and state income taxes was required to be included in the accompanying financial 
statements.

Professional accounting standards require Premier Arts to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would not be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. Premier Arts has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. The U.S. federal and state income tax returns of Premier Arts
are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing authorities, 
generally for three years after they were filed.

Leases

Premier Arts determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in 
the statement of financial position.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

ROU assets represent Premier Arts’ right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent Premier Arts’ obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that Premier Arts will exercise 
that option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Premier Arts has elected to recognize payments for short-term 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are 
not included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet.

The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, Premier Arts has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities.

Premier Arts has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component.

Subsequent Events

Premier Arts evaluated subsequent events through January 28, 2025, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required.

NOTE 2 LINE OF CREDIT

On June 14, 2023, Premier Arts entered into a credit agreement with a bank for a line of 
credit which permits borrowing up to $400,000. Principal and interest payments are due 
monthly beginning in July 2023 with a variable interest rate (9.25% at June 30, 2024) and 
matured on June 10, 2024 and was renewed through June 10, 2025. The line of credit is 
secured by any and all property owed at the time of the agreement and acquired after. As of 
June 30, 2024, the line of credit balance was $275,859.

NOTE 3 NOTE PAYABLE

On September 8, 2023, Premier Arts entered into a promissory note agreement with a bank 
for $100,000. Principal and interest payments are due monthly beginning in October 2023
with a variable interest rate (8.50% at June 30, 2024) until August 2025. As of June 30, 
2024, note payable balance was $69,325.
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NOTE 4 LEASE

Premier Arts leases equipment and facilities under a long-term, noncancelable lease 
agreements. The leases expire at various times through 2029. In the normal course of 
business, it is expected that the lease will be renewed or replaced by similar leases.

The following tables provide quantitative information concerning Premier Arts’ leases for the 
year ended June 30, 2024:

Lease Cost:
Finance Lease Cost 64,215$          
Interest on Lease Liabilities 26,492            
Operating Lease Cost 82,333            

Total Lease Cost 173,040$        

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Finance Leases 26,492$          
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 82,150            
Financing Cash Flows from Finance Leases 52,932            
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Finance Leases 4.3 Years 
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 2.2 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Finance Leases 8.74%
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 8.91%

A maturity analysis of annual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 
2024 is as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Operating Finance Totals
2025 133,800$      88,162$        221,962$      
2026 61,050          88,162          149,212        
2027 45,000          88,162          133,162        
2028 -                    88,162          88,162          
2029 -                    22,040          22,040          

Undiscounted Cash Flows 239,850        374,688        614,538        
(Less) Imputed Interest (21,073)         (60,370)         (81,443)         

Total Present Value 218,777$      314,318$      533,095$      

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 133,800$      88,162$        221,962$      
Long-Term Lease Liabilities 84,977          226,156        311,133        

Total 218,777$      314,318$      533,095$      
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NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLANS

Premier Arts provides retirement benefits covering substantially all full-time employees. 
Retirement benefits are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ Retirement Fund (TRF) 
and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of which are cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the state of Indiana and 
administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. Contribution 
requirements of plan members are determined annually by the INPRS Board. For the period 
February 2, 2023 through June 30, 2024, Premier Arts contributed 6.0% of compensation for 
eligible teaching personnel to TRF and 11.2% for other employees to PERF. Should Premier 
Arts elect to withdraw from TRF or PERF, it could be subject to a withdrawal fee. Premier 
Arts’ contributions represent an insignificant percentage of the total contributions received 
by TRF and PERF. As of June 30, 2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF were 
approximately 85% and 95% funded, respectively.

Retirement plan expense was $91,759 for the period February 2, 2023 through June 30, 
2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 6 COMMITMENTS

Premier Arts operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under the 
charter, Premier Arts agrees to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support received. Expense under this charter agreement was
$40,553 for the period February 2, 2023 through June 30, 2024. The charter remains in 
effect until June 30, 2028 and are renewable thereafter by mutual consent.

During the period February 2, 2023 through June 30, 2024, Premier Arts entered into a 
construction contract for the build out of an annex operating location. As of June 30, 2024, 
the contract was approximately $350,000. The remaining portion yet to be paid as of
June 30, 2024 was approximately $80,000.

NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Premier Arts provides education instruction services to families residing in Elkhart and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area.

The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect Premier Arts. Additionally, Premier Arts is subject to monitoring and audit by state and 
federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed on 
Premier Arts.
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NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments that potentially subject Premier Arts to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024, substantially all 
of the receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. 

Premier Arts primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts at 
various financial institutions. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to specified limits. At times, amounts on deposit may 
exceed insured limits or include unsecured accounts. To date, Premier Arts has not 
experienced losses in any of these accounts.

NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY

Under ASU 2016-14, Premier Arts is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024, to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the date 
of the statement of financial position. Premier Arts’ financial assets include cash, 
investments, accounts receivable and grants receivable. Financial assets at June 30, 2024
totaled $179,384 all of which are available to meet cash needs for general expenditures 
within the next year. Premier Arts also has a line of credit available to assist with the cash 
needs of Premier Arts (see Note 2).

From time to time, Premier Arts receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, Premier 
Arts must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of 
Premier Arts’ liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be 
available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.

NOTE 9 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and changes in net assets. Management of Premier Arts
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories was required.
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for Premier 
Arts Incorporated dba Premier Arts Academy as listed below:

Supplemental Audit Report of Premier Arts Incorporated dba Premier Arts Academy

The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of testing required by the Indiana State Board of 
Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private Examiners 
pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines Manual for 
Indiana Charter Schools.
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Premier Premier

Arts Academy Arts, Inc. Eliminations Total

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 48,387$             27,782$             -$                       76,169$             

Investments -                         11,388               -                         11,388               

Accounts Receivable, Net 31,030 -                         -                         31,030               

Grants Receivable 60,797               -                         -                         60,797               

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 4,500 -                         -                         4,500                 

Total Current Assets 144,714             39,170               -                         183,884             

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Equipment -                         450,875             -                         450,875             

Furniture and Fixtures -                         121,507             -                         121,507             

Leasehold Improvements 579,617 24,991               -                         604,608             

Land Improvements -                         1,997                 -                         1,997                 

Construction In Progress 272,626             -                         -                         272,626             

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (133,099)            (190,163)            -                         (323,262)            

Property and Equipment, Net 719,144             409,207             -                         1,128,351          

OTHER ASSETS

Right-of-Use Assets Operating, Net 218,777 -                         -                         218,777             

Right-of-Use Financing, Net 314,318 -                         -                         314,318             

Total Other Assets 533,095             -                         -                         533,095             

Total Assets 1,396,953$        448,377$           -$                       1,845,330$        

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 338,148$           2,852$               -$                       341,000$           

Accrued Liabilities 41,121 -                         -                         41,121

Notes Payable and Long-Term

  Debt, Current Portion 345,184 -                         -                         345,184             

Right-of-Use Liability - Operating

  Operating, Current Portion 133,800 -                         -                         133,800

Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, 

  Current Portion 88,162               -                         -                         88,162

Total Current Liabilities 946,415             2,852                 -                         949,267             

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Right-of-Use Liability - Operating, Net of 

  Current Portion 84,977 -                         -                         84,977               

Right-of-Use Liability - Financing, Net of 

  Current Portion 226,156             -                         -                         226,156             

Total Long-Term Liabilities 311,133             -                         -                         311,133             

Total Liabilities 1,257,548 2,852                 -                         1,260,400

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR 

  RESTRICTIONS 139,405             - 445,525             -                         584,930             

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,396,953$        448,377$           -$                       1,845,330$        
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Premier Premier

Arts Academy Arts, Inc. Eliminations Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 1,489,413$      -$                     -$                     1,489,413$      

Grant Revenue 1,056,572        -                       -                       1,056,572        

Contributions 410,805           157,910           -                       568,715           

Student Fees 56,867             -                       -                       56,867             

Program Services -                       192,616           -                       192,616           

Investment Income -                       782                  -                       782                  

Fundraising and Special Events -                       2,541               -                       2,541               

Total Revenue and Support 3,013,657        353,849           -                       3,367,506        

EXPENSES

Program Services 2,067,598        279,505           -                       2,347,103        

Management and General 806,654           60,674             -                       867,328           

Total Expenses 2,874,252        340,179           -                       3,214,431        

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 139,405           13,670             -                       153,075           

Net Assets - Beginning of Year -                       431,855           -                       431,855           

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 139,405$         445,525$         -$                     584,930$         
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit.
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Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The accompanying supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is 
not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
December 30, 2024
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2024 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 1,615,437$     1,052,156$     
Grants Receivable 10,900            167,250          
Other Receivables, Net of Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 36,265            50,630            
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets -                      14,812            

Total Current Assets 1,662,602       1,284,848       

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 436,820          396,113          
Buildings and Improvements 804,881          804,881          
Leasehold Improvements 693,314          681,064          
Furniture and Equipment 185,389          174,472          
Vehicles 61,876            76,065            
Textbooks 33,712            33,712            
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,049,990)      (996,261)         

Property and Equipment, Net 1,166,002       1,170,046       

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET, NET 286,738          378,690          

Total Assets 3,115,342$     2,833,584$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable 557,220$        42,553$          
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 121,627          109,631          
Deferred Revenue 19,560            104,220          
Right of Use Liability, Current 93,742            98,292            

Total Current Liabilities 792,149          354,696          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Notes Payable, Net of Current Portion -                      557,216          
Right-of-Use Liability, Net of Current Portion 192,996          280,398          

Total Long-Term Liabilities 192,996          837,614          

Total Liabilities 985,145          1,192,310       

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 2,130,197       1,641,274       

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,115,342$     2,833,584$     
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT, WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS

State Education Support 1,981,757$     1,761,633$     
Grant Revenue 796,258          636,531          
Student Fees 248,621          258,190          
Fundraising and Other Income 26,346            15,366            
Other Income 17,748            48,590            

Total Revenue and Support, Without Donor Restrictions 3,070,730       2,720,310       

EXPENSES

Program Services 1,719,058       1,711,596       
Management and General 862,749          859,067          

Total Expenses 2,581,807       2,570,663       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS, WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 488,923          149,647          

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Beginning of Year 1,641,274       1,491,627       

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS - END OF YEAR 2,130,197$     1,641,274$     
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Program Management Program Management

Services and General Total Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 856,830$      494,130$      1,350,960$   830,128$      492,092$      1,322,220$   
Employee Benefits 214,040        158,402        372,442        200,768        166,790        367,558        
Professional Services 12,397          30,212          42,609          7,300            27,167          34,467          
Staff Development and Recruitment 22,340          -                    22,340          43,233          -                    43,233          
Authorizer Oversight Fees -                    38,043          38,043          -                    33,929          33,929          

Food Costs 27,205          -                    27,205          25,691          -                    25,691          

Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 96,619          14,819          111,438        119,568        30,526          150,094        
Field Trips and Events 49,439          -                    49,439          45,889          -                    45,889          
Occupancy 287,761        -                    287,761        285,108        -                    285,108        
Repairs and Maintenance 57,209          -                    57,209          57,974          -                    57,974          
Information Technology -                    16,344          16,344          -                    18,181          18,181          
Depreciation 67,918          -                    67,918          75,496          -                    75,496          

Insurance -                    36,574          36,574          -                    42,299          42,299          

Interest -                    24,611          24,611          -                    26,305          26,305          
Transportation 25,554          -                    25,554          19,816          -                    19,816          
Bad Debt -                    19,000          19,000          -                    5,000            5,000            
Other 1,746            30,614          32,360          625               16,778          17,403          

Total Functional Expenses 1,719,058$   862,749$      2,581,807$   1,711,596$   859,067$      2,570,663$   

2024 2023
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets 488,923$        149,647$        
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 67,918            75,496            
Provision for (Recovery from) Bad Debts (3,029)             (3,304)             

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Grants Receivable 156,350          62,450            
Other Receivables 17,394            (8,912)             
Prepaid Expenses 14,812            70                   
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 11,996            (8,572)             
Deferred Revenue (84,660)           20,318            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 669,704          287,193          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Property and Equipment (63,874)           (88,602)           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Principal Payments of Notes Payable (42,549)           (40,856)           

NET CHANGE IN CASH 563,281          157,735          

Cash - Beginning of Year 1,052,156       894,421          

CASH - END OF YEAR 1,615,437$     1,052,156$     

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash Paid for Interest 24,611$          26,305$          
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

Renaissance Academy, Inc. (the School) is a public benefit nonprofit organization 
incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School operates a public charter 
school established under Indiana Code 20-24 and is sponsored by Ball State University. The
School served approximately 267 students in grades kindergarten to eight during the 2023-
2024 school year. The School also provides an early childhood education program for
children ages three and four on a fee basis.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues generally come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act
(the Act). Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the 
funding received by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the 
state of Indiana is based on enrollment and is paid in monthly installments in July through 
June coinciding with the academic School year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which
the educational services are rendered.

A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Accordingly, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amount of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures are 
reported as deferred revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024
and 2023, the School does not have any conditional grants that have not been recognized 
as revenue in the statement of activities because conditions have not been met.

Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the promised good or service 
is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Amounts unpaid after the service is 
performed are reported as accounts receivable in the statement of financial position. As of
June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the School has $32,265, $50,630, and $38,414, 
respectively, of accounts receivable from student fees, net of allowance for credit losses. 
Amounts received prior to service is performed are reported as deferred revenues in the 
statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the School has 
$19,560, $104,220, and $83,902, respectively, of deferred revenue from student fees.



RENAISSANCE ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023

(9)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Grant, Contribution, and Fundraising Revenue

The School receives income from grants, contributions, and fundraising that support certain 
school activities. Such revenue received and unconditional promises to give are measured 
at their fair values and are reported as an increase in net assets. The School reports gifts of 
cash and other assets and grants as restricted support if they are received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for 
future periods. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction 
ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are 
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of 
activities and changes in net assets as Net Assets Released from Restrictions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents consists of short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. There were no cash
equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Grants and Other Receivables

Grants receivable relate primarily to activities funded under federal grants and legislation 
enacted by the state of Indiana. The School believes that it is operating in compliance with
regulatory requirements and as such, no allowance for credit losses is deemed necessary
under Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL) with regard to such receivables. Other 
receivables include student and preschool fees and are reviewed for collectability on an 
annual basis. The accompanying statements of financial position reflect allowances for 
credit losses of $16,180 and $18,988 as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs 
and minor replacement costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows:

Buildings and Improvements 39 Years
Leasehold Improvements 5 to 15 Years
Furniture and Equipment 3 to 7 Years
Vehicles 5 Years
Textbooks 3 Years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of enrollment fees and materials and supplies fees received as 
part of the enrollment process for the subsequent academic School year.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Taxes on Income

Renaissance Academy, Inc. has received a determination from the U.S. Treasury Department 
stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be subject to tax on income 
unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, no 
accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be included in the 
accompanying financial statements.

Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. Tax years ending after 2021 are open to audit for both federal 
and state purposes.

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, 
which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this new 
guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard 
did not have a material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the 
allowance for credit losses is determined.

Leases

The School adopted the requirements of the guidance effective July 1, 2022, and has 
elected to apply the provisions of this standard to the beginning of the period of adoption, 
while continuing to present the comparative period in accordance with the guidance under 
the lease standard in effect during that period.

The School has elected to adopt the package of practical expedients available in the year of 
adoption. The School has also elected to adopt the available practical expedient to use 
hindsight in determining the lease term and in assessing impairment of the School’s ROU 
assets.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – financing and lease liability – financing in 
the balance sheet.

ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not included as 
lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet.

The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. Additional detail regarding leases is provided in Note 3, Related Party 
Lease. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, the School had a right-of-use asset –
operating, net, and a right-of-use liability – operating of $286,738 and $378,690.

Subsequent Events

The School evaluated subsequent events through December 30, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required.
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NOTE 2 NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable were comprised of the following at June 30:

Description 2024 2023

Mortgage note payable to 1st Source Bank, payable

in monthly installments of $4,532, including interest

at 5.55% per annum through September 2019. The

note was refinanced with 1st Source Bank in October

2019, monthly installments of $5,597, including

interest at 4.17% per annum through September 2024.

The School drew additional proceeds of $327,681 to

be used for loan closing costs, facility and grounds

improvements, and operations. 557,220$        599,769$        

Less: Current Portion (557,220)         (42,553)           

Long-Term Portion -$                    557,216$        

Principal maturities of notes payable, after the October 2019 refinancing and including the 
additional loan proceeds, are as follows for the years ending June 30:

Year Ending June 30, Amount

2025 557,220$        

NOTE 3 RELATED PARTY LEASE

The School leases a portion of the School facilities from V&K, LLC under a 10-year lease that
ends June 30, 2027. The lease is accounted for as an operating lease. V&K, LLC is owned 
by Kieran McHugh and Vicki McHugh, both of whom are employees of the School. Under 
the lease agreement, monthly base rent is $8,191 (adjusted annually by the rate of inflation, 
as defined) and the School is responsible for all utilities and insurance on the contents. 
Expense under this lease was $121,299 and $108,352 for the years ended June 30, 2024
and 2023, respectively.
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NOTE 3 RELATED PARTY LEASE (CONTINUED)

Lease Cost: 2024 2023

Operating Lease Cost: 98,292$             98,292$             

Other Information:

Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 98,292$             98,292$             

Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for New

  Operating Lease Liabilities: 468,886$           468,886$           

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 

  Operating Leases: 3.0 Years 4.0 Years

Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 1.93% 1.93%

A maturity analysis of annual discounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024
is as follows:

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2025 98,292$             

2026 98,292               

2027 98,292               

Undiscounted Cash Flows 294,876             

Less: Imputed Interest (8,138)               

Total Present Value 286,738$           

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 93,742$             

Long-Term Lease Liabilities 192,996             

Total 286,738$           

NOTE 4 COMMITMENTS

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition payments received. Expense under this charter agreement was 
$38,043 and $33,929 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
charter remains in effect until June 30, 2024 and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent.

NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLANS

Retirement benefits for School employees are provided by the Indiana State Teachers’ 
Retirement Fund (TRF) and the Indiana Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF), both of 
which are cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plans governed by the 
state of Indiana and administered by the Indiana Public Retirement System (INPRS) Board. 



RENAISSANCE ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023

(14)

NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

Contribution requirements of plan members are determined by the INPRS Board. Under the 
plans, for both years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School contributed 6.5% of
compensation for eligible teaching faculty to TRF and 11.2% of compensation for other
eligible employees to PERF. Should the School elect to withdraw from TRF or PERF, the 
School could be subject to a withdrawal fee. The School’s contributions represent an 
insignificant percentage of the total contributions received by TRF or PERF. As of June 30,
2023 (the latest year reported), TRF and PERF were approximately 85% and 95% funded, 
respectively.

In addition, the School has a 401k program for eligible employees. Under the plan, the 
School matches 100% of employee contributions up to 4%.

Total retirement plan expense was $125,237 and $108,347 for the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 6 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in LaPorte and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area.

The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly
affect the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by state and 
federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed on the
School.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
substantially all of the grants receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. All cash
deposits are maintained at 1st Source Bank and are insured up to the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance up to the legal limit.
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NOTE 7 LIQUIDITY

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at
June 30, 2024 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the date of 
the statement of financial position. The School’s financial assets include cash, grants 
receivable, and other receivables, net of allowance for credit losses. Financial assets at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 total $1,662,602 and $1,270,036, respectively, all of which are 
available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within a year.

From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to is donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.

NOTE 8 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional basis
in the statement of activities and changes in net assets. Management of the School has 
categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to the
underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions between 
these categories was required.
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Renaissance Renaissance
Academy Academy 

Charter Pre-K Total 

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 1,447,630$       167,807$         1,615,437$       
Grants Receivable 10,900             -                       10,900             
Other Receivables, Net of Allowance 
  for Credit Losses 23,930             12,335             36,265             

Total Current Assets 1,482,460        180,142           1,662,602        

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 436,820           -                       436,820           
Buildings and Improvements 804,881           -                       804,881           
Leasehold Improvements 693,314           -                       693,314           
Furniture and Equipment 185,389           -                       185,389           
Vehicles -                       61,876             61,876             
Textbooks 33,712             -                       33,712             
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,018,563)       (31,427)            (1,049,990)       

Property and Equipment, Net 1,135,553        30,449             1,166,002        

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET, NET 286,738           -                       286,738           

Total Assets 2,904,751$       210,591$         3,115,342$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Notes Payable 557,220$         -$                     557,220$         
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 113,517           8,110               121,627           
Deferred Revenue 19,560             -                       19,560             
Right-of-Use Liability, Current 93,742             -                       93,742             

Total Current Liabilities 784,039           8,110               792,149           

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Right of Use Liability, Net of Current Portion 192,996           -                       192,996           

Total Long-Term Liabilities 192,996           -                       192,996           

Total Liabilities 977,035           8,110               985,145           

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 1,927,716        202,481           2,130,197        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 2,904,751$       210,591$         3,115,342$       



RENAISSANCE ACADEMY, INC.
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Renaissance Renaissance
Academy Academy 
Charter Pre-K Total 

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

State Education Support 1,981,757$     -$                    1,981,757$     
Grant Revenue 796,258          -                      796,258          
Student Fees 113,129          135,492          248,621          
Fundraising and Other Income 26,346            -                      26,346            
Other Income 17,748            -                      17,748            

Total Revenue and Support 2,935,238       135,492          3,070,730       

EXPENSES

Program Services 1,603,174       115,884          1,719,058       
Management and General 846,740          16,009            862,749          

Total Expenses 2,449,914       131,893          2,581,807       

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 485,324          3,599              488,923          

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 1,442,392       198,882          1,641,274       

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 1,927,716$     202,481$        2,130,197$     



RENAISSANCE ACADEMY, INC.
OTHER REPORT

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

(18)

The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
Corporation as listed below:

Supplemental Audit Report of Renaissance Academy, Inc.

The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools.
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Office Official Term

President of Board of Directors Ann Bates 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024

Head of School Kieran McHugh 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024

Administrator Victoria McHugh 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024
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JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024

(3)

TRAVEL REIMBURSMENT

During our testing, we noted that the School reimbursed airfare for an employee family member that 
was included in the reimbursement items for the employees. The value was $196. The receipt included 
the name of the employee and the family member. 

The charter school shall only reimburse employees for travel expenses when appropriate claims are
submitted. The claims must be in writing, itemized, and supported with original receipts, and 
documentation that the trip was for charter school business. (Guidelines for the Audits of Charter 
Schools Performed by Private Examiners, Part 8).
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EXIT CONFERENCE
JULY 1, 2023 TO JUNE 30, 2024

(4)

The contents of this report were discussed with Kieran McHugh (Head of School) and Tina Bushue
(Accountant) on December 26, 2024. The Official Response has been made part of this report and can 
be found on page 5.
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Board of Directors 
Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc. 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc.’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc.’s ability to continue as
a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
December 16, 2024 
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2024 2023
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 3,028,956$      2,627,127$      
Cash - Restricted for Debt Service 2,061,943        1,944,015        

Total Cash 5,090,899        4,571,142        

Accounts Receivable 43,234             18,118             
Grants Receivable 114,739           45,034             
Prepaid Expenses 174,603           85,477             

Total Current Assets 5,423,475        4,719,771        

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land 1,196,153        1,196,153        
Leasehold Improvements 13,389,595      13,389,595      
Furniture and Equipment 1,023,184        1,007,284        
Textbooks 437,573           437,573           
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (3,505,993)       (3,012,888)       

Property and Equipment, Net 12,540,512      13,017,717      

OTHER ASSETS
Operating Right of Use (ROU) Asset 13,019             8,043
Finance Right of Use (ROU) Asset 36,607             114,279           

Total Other Assets 49,626             122,322           

Total Assets 18,013,613$    17,859,810$    



ROCK CREEK COMMUNITY ACADEMY, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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2024 2023

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 200,870$         161,866$         
Current Portion of Bonds Payable 240,000           225,000           
Current Portion of Operating Lease Liability 2,987               5,056               
Current Portion of Finance Lease Liability 57,148             63,373             
Accrued Bond Interest Payable 413,794           419,700           
Deferred Revenue 11,380             129,941           
Student Activity Funds 120,605           110,921           

Total Current Liabilities 1,046,784        1,115,857        

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Bonds Payable, Net of Current Portion 13,700,000      13,940,000      
Plus: Unamortized Premiums on Bonds Payable 102,670           106,904           
Less: Unamortized Debt Insurance Costs (371,061)          (386,363)          
Operating Lease Liability, Net of Current Portion -                       2,987               
Finance Lease Liability, Net of Current Portion -                       64,643             

Total Long-Term Liabilities 13,431,609      13,728,171      

Total Liabilities 14,478,393      14,844,028      

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions 3,535,220        3,015,782        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 18,013,613$    17,859,810$    
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See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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2024 2023

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
State Education Support 5,606,895$      4,979,945$      
Grant Revenue 1,645,499        1,541,399        
Student Fees 175,701           358,899           
Contributions 45,184             33,707             
Fundraising Income 32,642             43,978             
Interest Income 158,941 50,939             

Total Revenue and Support 7,664,862        7,008,867        

EXPENSES
Program Services 5,479,380        5,137,283        
Management and General 1,666,044        1,559,657        

Total Expenses 7,145,424        6,696,940        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 519,438           311,927           

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Beginning of Year 3,015,782        2,703,855        

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS - END OF YEAR 3,535,220$      3,015,782$      
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See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Program Management
Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 2,759,657$    505,307$       3,264,964$    
Employee Benefits 587,662         109,441         697,103         
Professional Services 772,336         6,865             779,201         
Occupancy 159,732         -                     159,732         
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 290,055         29,669           319,724         
Depreciation 493,105         -                     493,105         
Equipment 60,661           -                     60,661           
Food Costs 164,874         1,700             166,574         
Field Trips 12,088           -                     12,088           
Insurance -                     54,280           54,280           
Repairs and Maintenance 57,721           347                58,068           
Advertising -                     11,267           11,267           
Staff Development 4,479             -                     4,479             
Interest -                     919,902         919,902         
Other 117,010         27,266           144,276         

Total Functional Expenses 5,479,380$    1,666,044$    7,145,424$    
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Program Management
Services and General Total

Salaries and Wages 2,534,357$    358,035$       2,852,373$    
Employee Benefits 570,486         93,610           637,361         
Professional Services 624,151         6,106             481,455         
Occupancy 160,777         -                     126,826         
Classroom, Kitchen, and Office Supplies 287,271         36,278           227,721         
Depreciation 461,726         -                     494,416         
Equipment 59,403           -                     151,809         
Food Costs 162,573         1,691             175,329         
Field Trips 83,452           -                     14,961           
Insurance -                     52,217           62,120           
Repairs and Maintenance 66,607           59                  50,335           
Advertising -                     11,825           8,765             
Staff Development 24,880           -                     11,120           
Interest -                     922,195         870,562         
Other 101,600         77,641           134,919         

Total Functional Expenses 5,137,283$    1,559,657$    6,696,940$    
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets 519,438$         311,927$         
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 493,105           461,726           
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs 15,302             15,302             
Amortization of Bond Premium (4,234)              (4,235)              
Noncash Lease Expense 72,696             55,235             
(Increase) Decrease in Assets:

Accounts Receivable (25,116)            20,317             
Grants Receivable (69,705)            87,291             
Prepaid Expenses (89,126)            (25,952)            
Security Deposits -                       8,832               

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 39,004             (323,978)          
Student Activity Funds 9,684               7,111               
Accrued Bond Interest Payable (5,906)              (7,481)              
Deferred Revenue (118,561)          (31,515)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 836,581           574,580           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment (15,900)            (20,505)            

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments on Bond Payable (225,000)          (215,000)          
Payments on Finance Leases (75,924)            (177,751)          

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (300,924)          (392,751)          

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH 519,757           161,324           

Cash and Restricted Cash - Beginning of Year 4,571,142        4,409,818        

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH - END OF YEAR 5,090,899$      4,571,142$      

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest 925,808$         929,676$         
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General 

Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc. (the School) is a public benefit nonprofit organization 
incorporated under the laws of the state of Indiana. The School operates a public charter 
school established under Indiana Code 20-24 and is sponsored by Ball State University. The 
School, located in Sellersburg, Indiana, provided educational instruction to students in 
grades kindergarten to twelve, serving approximately 640 students during the 2023 – 2024 
school year and approximately 660 students during the 2022 – 2023 school year. 
 
Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Revenue Recognition 

Revenues primarily come from resources provided under the Indiana Charter Schools Act. 
Under the Act, the School receives an amount per student in relation to the funding received 
by other public schools in the same geographic area. Funding from the state of Indiana is 
based on enrollment and paid in monthly installments in July through June coinciding with 
the academic school year. Revenue is recognized in the year in which the educational 
services are rendered. 
 
A portion of the School’s revenue is the product of cost reimbursement grants. Therefore, 
the School recognizes revenue under these grants in the amounts of costs and expenses at 
the time they are incurred. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School had conditional grants 
it had received advances in excess of expenditures of $11,380 and $6,875, respectively. 
Accordingly, these amounts have not been recognized as revenue in the statements of 
activities and change in net assets because conditions have not been met. 
 
Revenue from student fees is recognized when the control of the promised good or service 
is transferred to the student, in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Amounts unpaid after the service is 
performed are reported as accounts receivable in the statements of financial position. As of 
June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the School did not have any accounts receivable from 
student fees. Amounts received prior to service being performed are reported as deferred 
revenues in the statement of financial position. As of June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the 
School has $-0-, $129,941, and $161,456, respectively, of deferred revenue from student 
fees. 
 
Grants Receivable and Revenue 

Grants receivable and revenue relate primarily to activities funded under federal programs 
and legislation enacted by the state of Indiana. The School believes that it is operating in 
compliance with regulatory requirements and as such no allowance for doubtful accounts is 
deemed necessary. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Contributions, Grants, and Fees 

The School receives income from contributions, student fees, and fundraising events that 
support certain school activities. These receipts are reported as restricted support in that 
they are received with stipulations that limit their use. When a donor restriction expires, that 
is, when the purpose or time restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions 
are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of 
activities and change in net assets as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash consists of cash held in bank accounts and cash equivalents consists of short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. There were no cash 
equivalents at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Property and Equipment 

Purchases of assets and expenditures that materially increase value or extend useful lives 
are capitalized and are included in the accounts at cost. Routine maintenance and repairs, 
minor replacement costs, and equipment purchases with a unit cost of less than $5,000 are 
charged to expense as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using the 
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives generally are as follows: 
 
 Leasehold Improvements 5 to 40 Years 
 Furniture and Equipment 3 to 5 Years 
 Textbooks 5 Years 
 
Construction in Progress 

Construction in progress represents expenditures incurred for construction and development 
of the new school facility and are carried at cost. Cost includes related acquisition expenses, 
development/construction costs, and capitalized interest during the construction phase of 
the project, and other direct expenditures. There was no construction in progress at  
June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

On an ongoing basis, the School reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be overstated. The School 
recognizes impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated are 
less than the carrying value of the related asset. If impaired, the assets are adjusted to fair 
value based on the undiscounted cash flows. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Debt Issuance Costs 

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the School incurred costs totaling $459,045 
associated with securing financing under the Indiana Finance Authority Education Facilities 
Revenue Bonds. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the 30-year term of 
the bond. Accumulated amortization and amortization expense were $87,984 and $15,302 
for the year ended June 30, 2024. Accumulated amortization and amortization expense 
were $72,682 and $15,301 for the year ended June 30, 2023. As provided by ASU 2015-03, 
Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, debt issuance costs are presented as 
a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability. 
 
Taxes on Income 

Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc. has received a determination from the United States 
Department of Treasury stating that it qualifies under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code as a tax-exempt organization; however, the School would be 
subject to tax on income unrelated to its tax-exempt purpose. For the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, no accounting for federal and state income taxes was required to be 
included in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Professional accounting standards require the School to recognize a tax liability only if it is 
more likely than not the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax 
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
liability that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not 
meeting the more likely than not test, no tax liability is recorded. The School has examined 
this issue and has determined that there are no material contingent tax liabilities or 
questionable tax positions. Tax years ending after 2021 are open to audit for both federal 
and state purposes. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

In July of 2023, the School adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 
326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which modifies 
the measurement of expected credit losses. The School adopted this guidance utilizing the 
modified retrospective transition method. The adoption of this standard did not have a 
material impact on the School’s financial statements but did change how the allowance for 
credit losses is determined.   
 
Leases 

The School determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are 
included in right-of-use (ROU) assets – operating and lease liability – operating, and finance 
leases are included in ROU assets – financing and lease liability – financing in the balance 
sheet. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Leases (Continued) 

ROU assets represent the School’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease liabilities represent the School’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the School will exercise that 
option. Lease expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The School has elected to recognize payments for short-term leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less as expense as incurred and these leases are not 
included as lease liabilities or right of use assets on the balance sheet. 
 
The individual lease contracts do not provide information about the discount rate implicit in 
the lease. Therefore, the School has elected to use a risk-free discount rate determined 
using a period comparable with that of the lease term for computing the present value of all 
lease liabilities. 
 
The School has elected not to separate nonlease components from lease components and 
instead accounts for each separate lease component and the nonlease component as a 
single lease component. 
 
Subsequent Events 

The School evaluated subsequent events through December 16, 2024, the date these 
financial statements were available to be issued. Events occurring through that date have 
been evaluated to determine whether a change in the financial statements or related 
disclosures would be required. 
 
Subsequent to year-end, the School entered into a construction contract for additional 
school expansion of approximately $1.1 million and was approved for a common school loan 
of $1.2 million, with the first draw in September 2024. 
 
 

NOTE 2 RESTRICTED CASH 

Cash – Restricted for Debt Service is reserved solely for the payment of principal and 
interest on the bond in the event that other funding is unavailable to meet payment 
requirements. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the School had $2,061,943 and $1,944,015, 
respectively, restricted for debt service. 
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NOTE 3 BONDS PAYABLE 

Bonds payable consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 
Description 2024 2023

Indiana Finance Authority Education Facilities 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A with a face amount 
of $14,450,000, plus premium of $127,015. The 
principal is payable in annual installments that 
increase from $140,000 to $905,000 from July 2021
to July 2048, with a lump-sum payment of $2,060,000
due in July 2048. Interest payments are made
semi-annually on January 1 and July 1 at rates ranging
from 5.250% to 6.125% from July 2021 to July 2039 in
accordance with the bond agreement. The bond
obligation is secured by land, buildings, and 
improvements. 13,940,000$    14,165,000$    

Total 13,940,000      14,165,000      

Less: Current Portion (240,000)          (225,000)          

Long-Term Portion 13,700,000$    13,940,000$    
 

 
The premium on the Series A bonds above totaled $127,015 and is being amortized over 
the 30-year life of the bonds. Amortization of the premium for the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023 was $4,234 and is included as part of interest expense.  
 
The Indiana Finance Authority Educational Facilities Revenue Bond agreement contains 
certain covenants requiring minimum unrestricted cash reserves sufficient to meet 45 days 
of operating expenses and establishes a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.10 to 1. 
The School believes it was in compliance with covenants for 2024 and 2023. 
 
Principal maturities of the bonds payable are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2025 240,000$         
2026 250,000           
2027 265,000           
2028 280,000           
2029 295,000           

Thereafter 12,610,000      
Total 13,940,000$    
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NOTE 4 LEASES 

The School leases equipment under a long-term, noncancelable lease agreements. The 
lease expires in July 2025. In the normal course of business, it is expected that the lease will 
be renewed or replaced by similar leases.  
 
The following tables provide quantitative information concerning the School’s leases for the 
year ended June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Lease Cost:

Finance Lease Cost 55,329$           60,640$           
Interest on Lease Liabilities 12,689             20,655             
Operating Lease Cost 5,148               5,148               

Total Lease Cost 73,166$           86,443$           

Other Information:
Operating Cash Flows from Finance Leases 12,689$           19,870$           
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases 5,148$             5,148$             
Financing Cash Flows from Finance Leases 70,325$           55,749$           
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new

operating lease liabilities -$                     13,019$           
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Finance Leases 1.0 Years 1.9 Years
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term - 
  Operating Leases 0.6 Years 1.6 Years
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Finance Leases 16.05% 14.05%
Weighted-Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 1.60% 1.60%

 
 
A maturity analysis of annual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities as of June 30, 
2024 is as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Operating Finance Totals
2025 3,003$           61,416$         64,419$         
2026 -                     -                     -                     

Undiscounted Cash Flows 3,003$           61,416$         64,419$         
(Less) Imputed Interest (16)                 (4,268)            (4,284)            

Total Present Value 2,987$           57,148$         60,135$         

Short-Term Lease Liabilities 2,987$           57,148$         60,135$         
Long-Term Lease Liabilities -                     -                     -                     

Total 2,987$           57,148$         60,135$         
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NOTE 5 RETIREMENT PLAN 

The School maintains a Section 403(b) defined contribution retirement plan with Mass 
Mutual Financial Group for the benefit of its employees. Substantially all full-time employees 
are eligible to participate. Under the plan, the School contributes 7.5% of each participant’s 
compensation for the plan year. Retirement plan expense for the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023 was $216,095 and $216,222, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 6 COMMITMENTS 

The School operates under a charter granted by Ball State University. As the sponsoring 
organization, Ball State University exercises certain oversight responsibilities. Under this 
charter, the School has agreed to pay to Ball State University an annual administrative fee 
equal to 3% of state tuition support received. The charter remains in effect until June 30, 
2027, and is renewable thereafter by mutual consent. Payments under this charter 
agreement were $87,989 and $86,199 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
During the years ended June 20, 2024 and 2023, the School paid $56,900 and $49,300, 
respectively, to companies of a related party for cleaning and landscaping needs of 
the School. 
 
 

NOTE 7 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The School provides educational instruction services to families residing in Clark and 
surrounding counties in Indiana and is subject to the risks of economic and competitive 
forces at work within this geographic area. 
 
The majority of revenues relate to legislation enacted by the state of Indiana and grants 
awarded under federal programs. Changes in state or federal legislation could significantly 
affect the School. Additionally, the School is subject to monitoring and audit by state and 
federal agencies. Those examinations may result in additional liability to be imposed on 
the School. 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of receivables from the state of Indiana. At June 30, 2024, substantially all 
of the grants receivable balance was due from the state of Indiana. Cash deposits are 
maintained at New Washington State Bank and US Bank and normally exceed the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit. 
 



ROCK CREEK COMMUNITY ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 
 

(16) 

 
NOTE 8 LIQUIDITY 

Under ASU 2016-14, the School is required to disclose the assets it has available at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 to meet its cash needs for general expenditures within one year of 
the date of the statements of financial position. The School’s financial assets include cash 
and grants receivable. 
 

2024 2023
Financial Assets 5,248,872$      4,634,294$      
Less: Those Unavailable for General Expenditures
  Within One Year, Due to:

Restricted Cash for Use in Construction and
  Debt Service (2,061,943)       (1,944,015)       

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs
  for General Expenditures Within One Year 3,186,929$      2,690,279$      

 
 
From time to time, the School receives donor-restricted contributions. Because donor 
restrictions require resources to be used in a particular manner or in a future period, the 
School must maintain sufficient resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, 
financial assets may not be available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the 
School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available 
as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. 
 
 

NOTE 9 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE REPORTING 

The costs of providing the educational activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statements of activities and change in net assets. Management of the School 
has categorized expenses as program services or management and general according to 
the underlying nature of the expense. As such, no allocation of specific transactions 
between these categories was required. 
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The reports presented herein were prepared in addition to another official report prepared for the 
School as listed below: 
 

Supplemental Audit Report of Rock Creek Community Academy, Inc. 
 
The Supplemental Audit Report contains the results of compliance testing required by the Indiana State 
Board of Accounts under its Guidelines for the Audits of Charter Schools Performed by Private 
Examiners pertaining to matters addressed in its Accounting and Uniform Compliance Guidelines 
Manual for Indiana Charter Schools. 
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ROCK CREEK COMMUNITY ACADEMY, INC. 
CLARK COUNTY, INDIANA 

SCHOOL OFFICIALS 
JULY 1, 2023 to JUNE 30, 2024 

(1) 

Office Official Term

Board Chairman Jason Hall 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

School Treasurer Karen Floyd 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 

Business Manager Karen Rogers 07/01/2023 – 06/30/2024 





ROCK CREEK COMMUNITY ACADEMY, INC. 
CLARK COUNTY, INDIANA 

AUDIT RESULTS AND COMMENTS 
JULY 1, 2023 to JUNE 30, 2024 

(3) 

No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. 
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EXIT CONFERENCE 
JULY 1, 2023 to JUNE 30, 2024 

 
 
 

(4) 

 
The contents of this report were discussed with Karen Floyd, School Treasurer, and Jason Hall, Board 
Chairman, on December 14, 2024. 
 
 



ROCK CREEK COMMUNITY ACADEMY, INC. 
CLARK COUNTY, INDIANA 

OFFICIAL RESPONSE 
JULY 1, 2023 to JUNE 30, 2024 

(5) 

No findings noted for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 that required an official response. 






